From Department of Global Public Health Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

PHARMACOVIGILANCE OF MASS DRUG ADMINISTRATION AS PREVENTIVE CHEMOTHERAPY TO CONTROL AND ELIMINATE LYMPHATIC FILARIASIS IN TANZANIA

Adam Mitangu Fimbo



Stockholm 2024

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2024 © Adam Mitangu Fimbo, 2024 ISBN **978-91-8017-310-0** Pharmacovigilance of mass drug administration as preventive chemotherapy to control and eliminate lymphatic filariasis in Tanzania Thesis for Doctoral Degree (Ph.D.)

By

Adam Mitangu Fimbo

The thesis will be defended in public at Louis, Widerströmska House, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, and via Zoom, on 26th April 2024 at 09:00 am

Principal Supervisor:

Professor Eleni Aklillu Karolinska Institutet Department of Global Public Health Global Health Pharmacology and Therapeutics

Co-supervisor(s):

Professor Omary Minzi Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences Department of Clinical Pharmacy and Pharmacology, School of Pharmacy

Professor Appolinary Kamuhabwa

Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences Department of Clinical Pharmacy and Pharmacology, School of Pharmacy **Opponent: Professor Robert Bergquist** Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute

Examination Board: Professor Björn Wettermark Uppsala University Department of Pharmacy

Professor Cecilia Stålsby Lundborg Karolinska Institutet, Department of Global Public Health Health Systems and Policy

Associate Professor Peter Hjelmström

Uppsala Monitoring Centre Department of WHO Collaborating Center for International Drug Monitoring

I dedicate this piece of work to my family, friends, relatives, office mates, and those with a positive and persevering attitude!

Popular science summary of the thesis

Lymphatic filariasis (LF) is a neglected tropical disease (NTD) particularly affecting populations in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). Efforts to combat this disease have been ongoing through mass drug administration (MDA) campaigns, deploying the use of ivermectin and albendazole (IA), but the safety and effectiveness of these drugs remain under scrutiny. My doctoral research project aimed to address these concerns by assessing the prevalence of LF and evaluating the safety and efficacy of the drugs used during MDA in Tanzania.

The safety and efficacy of marketed drugs need to be ascertained through a pharmacovigilance (PV) system throughout the product's life cycle. One major challenge facing SSA is the lack of a robust PV system to monitor the adverse effects of the drugs, particularly in populations with overlapping diseases like onchocerciasis or loiasis. To tackle this, I investigated the safety of MDA drugs (i.e., ivermectin and albendazole), by actively monitoring individuals in the Mkinga district, Tanga region. I assessed their response to IA and identified common adverse effects such as headache, drowsiness, fever, and dizziness. Importantly, I found that certain risk factors like pre-existing clinical symptoms increased the likelihood of experiencing adverse effects.

Furthermore, I examined changes in haematological and biochemical parameters following drug administration and determined that they do change after drug intake. The observed abnormalities need further evaluation for better management of AEs including ascertaining the safety of MDA drugs in future campaigns.

I further modelled the pharmacokinetics (PK) of ivermectin to understand drug exposure variability and highlighted the need for tailored dosing strategies, especially considering the observed variability in dosage when using height scales for measurement.

Despite the effectiveness of IA in clearing microfilariae (mf) from the blood, LF prevalence in Tanzania remains high, suggesting the need for alternative treatments targeting adult worms. Moving forward, integrating PV into the NTD programme and exploring alternative drug combinations could be a crucial step toward eliminating LF in affected regions.

Abstract

Mass drug administration (MDA) campaigns are usually conducted on an annual basis by many countries globally where neglected tropical diseases (NTDs), including lymphatic filariasis (LF), are endemic. Such campaigns are organized and executed by the Neglected Tropical Diseases Control Programmes (NTDCP) or the National Programmes for Elimination of LF (NPELF) whichever is applicable. During such campaigns, drugs are normally distributed randomly to at-risk populations to halt the transmission of diseases. It has been proven through research and evidence gathered through the World Health Organization (WHO) and NTDCP that such a move helps to stop the spreading of LF in affected communities. Nevertheless, in these campaigns, individuals subjected to such preventive chemotherapy are in all cases not tested for LF diagnosis before drug administration. Depending on disease prevalence, elimination status, distribution coverage, and availability of resources, such campaigns may be conducted once or twice a year.

During or after these campaigns evidence shows that, the concept of pharmacovigilance is not being considered in most of the cases and that drugs are distributed randomly without collecting safety information to be certain that the same are not causing any harm to exposed individuals. Pharmacovigilance (i.e., *the science and activities relating to the detection, assessment, understanding, and prevention of adverse effects or any other medicine or vaccine-related problem*) is still weak in many resource-constrained countries. Such countries are to-date grappling to set up systems that would allow for the effective collection of data on drug-related adverse events (AEs) and reactions (ADRs). Underreporting is one of the mounting challenges and National Medicines Regulatory Authorities (NMRAs) do not have adequate resources or machinery to counter the status quo. Long-term and chronic undesirable events due to prolonged use of MDA drugs including those affecting the liver and kidneys are even of more concern.

In this PhD programme, we began by conducting a study to determine the prevalence and correlates of LF infection in the Mkinga district which is located in the Tanga region on the offshores of the Indian Ocean - the northeastern part of Tanzania (Paper I). The rationale of conducting such a study was to find out the level of antigenemia and microfilaremia as the same have an impact on the safety profile of drugs used for NTDs including LF (i.e., ivermectin and albendazole – IA). In this cross-sectional community-based survey, a total of 4115 individuals (49.7% males, 35.2% children) were screened for circulating filarial antigens (CFA), microfilaremia (mf), and disease manifestations in 15 villages between November 2018 and January 2019. MDA uptake in the previous year (2017) was also assessed. The overall prevalence of CFA-positivity was 5.8% (239/4115; 95% CI: 5.1-6.6), with significant heterogeneity seen between villages (range 1.2% to 13.5%). CFApositivity was higher in males (8.8%) than females (3.3%) and correlated with increasing age (p < 0.001). Prevalence of mf amongst CFA-positives was 5.2%. The MDA uptake was only 60%. Prevalence of scrotal enlargement, hydrocele, swelling of arms or legs, lymphoedema, and lymphadenopathy was 6.4%, 3.7%, 1.35%, 1.2% and 0.32%, respectively. This study showed that the elimination target of <1% mf and <2% antigenemia to levels where recrudescence is unlikely to occur was not attained as compared to the baseline data. However, after 16 rounds of MDA, LF transmission was significantly reduced.

Following the prevalence study, we went on to conduct the safety surveillance study (*Paper II*) to document AEs that occurred following IA MDA. In this study, we identified the type, incidence, and associated risk factors. Around 9,640 eligible individuals received single-dose IA combination preventive chemotherapy and treatment-associated AEs were actively monitored through house-to-house visits on day 1, day 2, and day 7 of MDA. After MDA, 9288 participants (96.3%) were followed up of whom 442 reported 719 MDA-associated AEs. The incidence of experiencing one or more types of MDA-associated AE was 4.8% (95% CI = 4.3-5.2%); this was significantly higher among those with pre-MDA clinical events than those without (8.5% versus 4.1%, p < 0.001). AEs were mild (83.8%), moderate (15.9%), and severe (0.3%), and most resolved within 72 hours. The incidence of

experiencing one, two, and \geq three types of AEs were 2.8%, 1.3%, and 0.6%, respectively. The most common AEs were headache (1.23%), drowsiness (1.15%), fever (1.12%), and dizziness (1.06%). Chronic illness, clinical manifestation of LF, being female, or having pre-existing clinical symptoms were significant predictors of AEs. Therefore, safety monitoring in individuals with underlying clinical conditions was recommended for timely detection and management of AEs during MDA campaigns.

To further ascertain the safety of MDA drugs in blood, kidneys, and liver, we extracted data to measure the haematological and biochemical parameters to determine their changing patterns (Paper III). In so doing we also examined their relationship with those who had experienced AEs in the previous safety study. In this nested analytical prospective study, we assessed data amongst 499 eligible individuals whose blood samples were collected before and after MDA. We measured Complete Blood Count (CBC) and renal and liver function tests at days O and 7 following MDA. After a comprehensive assessment of all blood indices as well as kidney and liver surrogate markers, we demonstrated that haematological and biochemical changes may occur following IA MDA. The median values of haematological parameters, including RBC, Hb, and HCT decreased while MCH, MCHC, and monocytes increased significantly in both CFA-positive and negative individuals (p<0.05). Median platelet counts, including MPV and PLCR, increased after MDA (p<0.05). Biochemical parameters, including ALT, AST, BilD, and BildT, showed varied results. Higher creatinine levels were observed, and a significant proportion of individuals had haematological and biochemical parameters below the reference range. Drowsiness was the most observed AE among individuals with abnormal parameters, followed by fever, dizziness, and nausea.

In **Paper IV**, a pharmacokinetic (PK) study was conducted to determine the PK properties of IVM in humans. The study was done to characterize the disposition of IVM and determine predictors of its PK for dose optimization during MDA. This was also a nested study in a bigger safety study in which data was evaluated amongst 468 individuals. PK samples were collected at 0, 2, 4, and 6 hours from

individuals weighing > 15 Kg receiving IVM (3-, 6-, 9-, or 12 mg) and ALB (400 mg) during an MDA campaign. Individual characteristics were assessed including demographics, laboratory/clinical parameters, and genetic variations of selected drug-metabolizing enzymes and transporters. IVM plasma concentrations were quantified by LC-MS/MS and analysed using population-pharmacokinetic (POPPK) modelling. A two-compartment model with transit absorption kinetics, and allometrically scaled oral clearance (CL/F) and central volume (Vc/F) were adopted. Fitting of the model to the current data identified a 48% higher bioavailability for the 3 mg dose compared to other doses and further identified a subpopulation with 97% higher mean transit time (MTT). The final estimates for CL/F, Vc/F, inter-compartment clearance (Q), peripheral volume (Vp), MTT, and absorption rate constant (Ka) for a 70 Kg person (on a dose other than 3 mg) were 7.7 L/h, 147 L, 20.4 L/h, 207 L, 1.5 h, and 0.71/h, respectively. Simulations indicated that weight-based dosing provides comparable exposure across weight bands, but height-based dosing with a capping IVM dose at 12 mg for individuals with height > 160cm under-doses those weighing > 70 Kg. The variability in IVM PK is partly explained by body weight and dose. The established POPPK model can be used for IVM dose optimization. Height-based pole dosing may result in varying IVM exposure of individuals in different weight bands; hence use of weighing scales for IVM dosing during MDA is recommended.

In **Paper V**, we investigated the efficacy of IA in clearing mf and reducing CFA levels in individuals. This community-based prospective study assessed the efficacy of MDA drugs in mf clearance and CFA reduction on days 7- and 6 months following MDA. The study was done in the same Mkinga district, Tanga region between November 2018 and June 2019. The status of mf and CFA on day 7 and six-month post-MDA was monitored. The primary efficacy outcomes were the clearance rates of mf on day 7 and six months, and CFA at 6 months of post-MDA. Out of 4,115 individuals screened, 239 (5.8%) tested positive for CFA, with 11 (4.6%) also positive for mf. The McNemar test revealed a significant improvement in mf clearance on day 7 following MDA (p=0.02). Out of 183 CFA-positive individuals who were available at 6-month follow-up, 160 (87.4%) remained CFA positive, while 23 became CFA negative. The CFA clearance rate at 6 months post-MDA was 12.6% (95% CI = 8.52 – 18.5%). There was no significant association of variability in IVM plasma exposure (Cmax and AUC) with post-MDA mf or CFA clearance status. We concluded that preventive chemotherapy with IA effectively clears mf within a week, but the same drugs are ineffective in clearing CFA at six months post-MDA. We recommended alternative drug combinations targeting adult worms as IA is not macrofilaricidal.

In **conclusion**, LF has not been fully eliminated from the study area and the prevalence of the disease is still above the threshold recommended by WHO. MDA drugs are relatively safe for use during MDA. However, chronic illnesses, previous clinical manifestations of LF, being female, or having pre-existing clinical symptoms are significant predictors of AEs. Individuals exposed to MDA might experience changes in haematological and biochemical parameters after drug intake. The NTD programme should consider these findings when monitoring individuals taking part in future MDA campaigns. POPPK modelling can be used for IVM dose optimization and whenever possible, the programme should consider using weighing balances rather than height-poles for dose estimation when administering MDA drugs to individuals in endemic communities. Despite that the MDA drugs are still efficacious, alternative combinations targeting adult worms should be sought by the NTD programme.

List of scientific papers

- Fimbo AM, Minzi OMS, Mmbando BP, Barry A, Nkayamba AF, Mwamwitwa KW, Malishee A, Seth MD, Makunde WH, Gurumurthy P, Lusingu JPA, Kamuhabwa AAR, Aklillu E. Prevalence and Correlates of Lymphatic Filariasis Infection and Its Morbidity Following Mass Ivermectin and Albendazole Administration in Mkinga District, North-Eastern Tanzania. J Clin Med. 2020 May 21;9(5):1550. doi: 10.3390/jcm9051550. PMID: 32455556; PMCID: PMC7290598.
- Fimbo AM, Minzi OM, Mmbando BP, Gurumurthy P, Kamuhabwa AAR, Aklillu E. Safety and Tolerability of Ivermectin and Albendazole Mass Drug Administration in Lymphatic Filariasis Endemic Communities of Tanzania: A Cohort Event Monitoring Study. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2022 May 12;15(5):594. doi: 10.3390/ph15050594. PMID: 35631420; PMCID: PMC9147720.
- III. Fimbo AM, Rajabu Hussein Mnkugwe, Eulambius Mathias Mlugu, Peter Kunambi, Bruno P. Mmbando, Omary MS Minzi, Appolinary A.R. Kamuhabwa and Eleni Aklillu, Surveillance of haematological and biochemical changes following mass Ivermectin and Albendazole administration for the control of lymphatic filariasis in endemic communities of Tanzania. (Manuscript submitted to Infectious Diseases of Poverty).
- IV. Fimbo AM, Mlugu EM, Kitabi EN, Kulwa GS, Iwodyah MA, Mnkugwe RH, Kunambi PP, Malishee A, Kamuhabwa AAR, Minzi OM, Aklillu E. Population pharmacokinetics of ivermectin after mass drug administration in lymphatic filariasis endemic communities of Tanzania. CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol. 2023 Dec;12(12):1884–1896. doi: 10.1002/psp4.13038. Epub 2023 Sep 11. PMID: 37638539; PMCID: PMC10725270
- V. Fimbo AM, Rajabu Hussein Mnkugwe, Eulambius Mathias Mlugu, Peter P. Kunambi, Bruno P. Mmbando, Omary MS Minzi, Appolinary A. R. Kamuhabwa and Eleni Aklillu. Efficacy of ivermectin and albendazole combination in suppressing transmission of lymphatic filariasis following mass administration in Tanzania: A Prospective Cohort Study (*Manuscript*).

Contents

1	Lite	rature review	1
	1.1	An Overview and Global Burden of Neglected Tropical Disease	s1
	1.2	The Global Burden of Lymphatic Filariasis	2
	1.3	Global Programme to Eliminate LF	
	1.4	The Burden of LF in Tanzania	4
	1.5	Life Cycle and Transmission of LF	4
	1.6	Clinical Manifestations of LF	6
	1.7	Diagnosis of LF	7
	1.8	Prevalence of LF in Tanzania	7
	1.9	Preventive Chemotherapy Strategies Through MDA Campaign	s 8
	1.10	Safety Surveillance Through Cohort Event Monitoring (CEM)	
		Method	
	1.11	Safety of Ivermectin and Albendazole	
	1.12	Need for Safety Surveillance During MDA	12
	1.13	Monitoring of Biological Parameters Following MDA	12
	1.14	Pharmacokinetics Analysis of MDA Drugs	14
	1.15	Population Pharmacokinetics Modelling	15
	1.16	Efficacy of Ivermectin and Albendazole to Stop Transmission of	of
		LF	
2	Rese	earch aims	
	2.1	Broad Objective	
	2.2	Specific Objectives	
3	Mat	terials and Methods	21
	3.1	Study Setting	21
	3.2	Study design, population and sample size	
	3.3	Data Collection Methods	
		3.3.1 Screening for CFA and mf	
		3.3.2 Safety data collection and severity grading	
		3.3.3 Measurement of Biological Parameters	
		3.3.4 Pharmacokinetics analysis including POPPK modelling	
		3.3.5 Evaluation of IVM height-based dosing	
		3.3.6 Efficacy Data Collection	27
	3.4	Data Management and Statistical Analysis	27
	3.5	Ethical Considerations	
4	Resu	ults	

	4.1	Preva	lence and Correlates of LF Infection and its Morbidity		
		Follov	ving MDA		
		4.1.1	Prevalence and Correlates of CFA		
		4.1.2	Prevalence and correlates of microfilaremia		
		4.1.3	Coverage of MDA from the previous round	32	
		4.1.4	Clinical Manifestations of LF	32	
	4.2	Safet	y and Tolerability of MDA Drugs Deployed in LF Endemic		
		Comr	nunities	33	
		4.2.1	Incidence of Adverse Events Following MDA	33	
		4.2.2	Incidence stratified by types of MDA-associated AEs	34	
		4.2.3	Severity grading of MDA-associated AEs	34	
		4.2.4	Correlates and predictors of AEs following MDA	34	
	4.3		illance of Haematological and Biochemical Changes		
		Follov	ving MDA	34	
		4.3.1	Comparison of baseline laboratory parameters by CFA		
			Status	35	
		4.3.2	Change in haematological and biochemical parameters		
			after MDA	35	
		4.3.3	Proportion of abnormalities in haematological and		
			biochemical parameters after MDA	35	
		4.3.4	Association of haematological and biochemical		
			abnormalities with adverse events following MDA	35	
	4.4	Popul	lation Pharmacokinetics of IVM Using a Modelling Analysis		
			oach	36	
		4.4.1	Population Pharmacokinetics Modelling	36	
		4.4.2	IVM dosing by height and weight		
	4.5		cy of MDA Drugs		
5	Disc	ussion	·	39	
	5.1	Preva	lence and Correlates of LF Infection and its Morbidity		
			, er I)	39	
		5.1.1	Prevalence and correlates of infection		
		5.1.2	MDA coverage in the previous year		
		5.1.3	Morbidity and Disease Manifestations		
	5.2		, y and Tolerability of IA Following MDA (Paper II)		
	5.3	Surveillance of Haematological and Biochemical Parameters			
	-	Following MDA (Paper III)			
		5.3.1	Change in haematological parameters after MDA		

		5.3.2	Change in biochemical parameters following MDA	48
	5.4	Pharm	nacokinetics Analysis of IVM Following MDA (Paper IV)	49
		5.4.1	Initial PK study	49
		5.4.2	POPPK Analysis	50
	5.5	Effica	cy of IA in Suppressing Transmission of LF (Paper V)	52
6	Cond	clusion	S	54
7	Point	ts of Pe	erspective	
8	Ackn	nowled	gements	59
9	Refe	rences		63

List of abbreviations

ABA	Abamectin
ADL	Activities of Daily Living
ADR	Adverse Drug Reaction
AE	Adverse Event
ALB	Albendazole
ALP	Alkaline Phosphatase
ALT	Alanine-Amino-Transferase
AST	Aspartate aminotransferase
AUC	Area Under the Concentration Time Curve
BBB	Blood-Brain Barrier
BilD	Direct Bilirubin
BilT	Total Bilirubin
BMI	Body Mass Index
CBC	Complete Blood Count
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CDDs	Community Drug Distributors
CEM	Cohort Event Monitoring
CFA	Circulating Filarial Antigen
CL	Clearance
Cmax	Concentration Maximum
CNS	Central Nervous System
COVID	Corona Virus Disease
CRET	Creatinine
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
CTCAE	Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events
CV	Coefficient of Variation
СҮР	Cytochrome P

DA	Diethylcarbamazine and Albendazole
DALYs	Disability Adjusted-Life Years
DBS	Dried Blood Spots
DEC	Diethylcarbamazine
DILI	Drug induced liver injury
DNA	Deoxyribo-Nucleic Acid
DOT	Directly Observed Therapy
EDCTP	European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership
EDN	Eosinophil Derived Neurotoxin
EDTA	Ethylene Diamine Tetraacetic Acid
EHC	Entero-Hepatic Circulation
EMA	European Medicines Agency
EO	Eosinophils
ESI	Electrospray Ionization
F	Bioavailability parameter
FOCE-I	First-order Conditional Estimation with Interaction
FTS	Filarial Test Strip
GFR	Glomerular Filtration Rate
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
GOF	Goodness of Fit
GPELF	Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis
GSK	GlaxoSmithKline
Hb	Haemoglobin
HCT	Haematocrit
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
HQC	High Quality Control

ΙΑ	Ivermectin and Albendazole
ICSRs	Individual Case Safety Reports
IDA	Ivermectin, Diethylcarbamazine and Albendazole
IIV	Inter-Individual Variability
IL	Interleukin
IQR	Interquartile Range
IS	Internal Standard
Ка	Absorption Rate Constant
KI	Karolinska Institutet
LC	Liquid Chromatography
LC-MSMS	Liquid Chromatography tandem Mass Spectrometry
LF	Lymphatic Filariasis
LLOQ	Lower Limit of Quantification
LQC	Low Quality Control
LYMPH	Lymphocytes
MCH	Mean Corpuscular Haemoglobin
MCHC	Mean Corpuscular Haemoglobin Concentration
MCV	Mean Corpuscular Volume
MDA	Mass Drug Administration
Mf	Microfilariae
МоН	Ministry of Health
MONO	Monocytes
MPV	Mean Platelet Volume
MQC	Middle Quality Control
MRCC	Medical Research Coordinating Committee
MRM	Multiple Reaction Monitoring
MS	Mass Spectrometry
MSD	Merck Sharpe and Dohme

MTT	Mean Transit Time
MUHAS	Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences
NEUT	Neutrophils
NIMR	National Institute for Medical Research
NMRAs	National Medicines Regulatory Authorities
NN	Number of Transit Compartments
NONMEM	Nonlinear Mixed Effects Modelling
NPELF	National Programme for Elimination of Lymphatic Filariasis
NTDCP	Neglected Tropical Diseases Control Programme
NTDs	Neglected Tropical Diseases
ODK	Open-source Data Kit
OFV	Objective Function Value
Oncho	Onchocerciasis
OR	Odds Ratio
PCT	Plateletcrit
PcVPC	Prediction-corrected Visual Predictive Check
PDW	Platelet Distribution Width
PG	Pharmacogenetics
Pgp	P-glycoprotein
PhD	Doctor of Philosophy
РК	Pharmacokinetics
PLCR	Platelet Large Cell Ratio
PLT	Platelets
PMS	Post Marketing Surveillance
РОРРК	Population Pharmacokinetics
PROFORMA	Pharmacovigilance infrastructure and post-marketing surveillance system capacity building for regional medicine regulatory harmonization in East Africa

PV	Pharmacovigilance
Q	Inter-compartment Clearance
QC	Quality Control
RBC	Red Blood Cell
RR	Relative Risk
RSE	Relative Standard Error
SAE	Serious Adverse Event
SD	Standard Deviation
SIDA	Swedish International Development Agency
SmPC	Summary of Product Characteristics
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
STH	Soil-Transmitted Helminths
TAS	Transmission Assessment Survey
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TFDA	Tanzania Food and Drugs Authority
Tmax	Maximum Time
TMDA	Tanzania Medicines and Medical Devices Authority
TNF	Tumor Necrosis factor
TPE	Tropical Pulmonary Eosinophilia
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
Vc	Central Volume
Vp	Peripheral Volume
VPC	Visual Predictive Check
WBC	White Blood Cell
WHA	World Health Assembly
WHO	World Health Organization

Introduction

Pharmacovigilance (PV) is one of the critical regulatory functions that allow for adverse drug events or reactions to be detected, analysed, and prevented. It is part of the post-marketing surveillance (PMS) method that ensures drugs are monitored for their safety soon after marketing authorization. Regulatory authorities are responsible for this role, and they are required to set up robust systems that work efficiently and effectively to protect humans from using drugs that are unsafe for consumption. The system is the gold standard in assessing the safety and efficacy of drugs once introduced in clinical practice. This PhD project applied the principles of PV to assess the safety and efficacy of drugs used during mass drug administration (MDA) campaigns in lymphatic filariasis (LF) endemic communities of the north-eastern part of Tanzania. Drugs used for LF during MDA include ivermectin and albendazole (IA). MDA is usually organized on an annual basis by the Neglected Tropical Diseases (NTD) control programme and during such campaigns, IA combination is always distributed at random to at-risk populations without any prior diagnosis of diseases. Whether individuals exposed have any underlying clinical condition or not, is not under consideration by the NTD programme. Exposing individuals of different age categories to drugs can potentially cause harm and therefore the need to monitor their safety.

This PhD project began by conducting a prevalence study to determine individuals harbouring worms in their blood. It is known that high levels of parasites including dead worms can cause inflammatory response and consequently development of AEs. The prevalence study allowed for the screening of a cohort of individuals to identify those with circulating filarial antigens (CFA) who were later checked for microfilaremia and then followed up for assessment of the efficacy of the drugs. The efficacy of MDA drugs was also put under the spotlight because since when MDA was introduced in Tanzania in 2002, LF has not been eliminated.

To be more comprehensive, the project further examined individuals for haematological and biochemical parameters to verify if they change soon after drug administration. Observing and recording any change in these parameters is key in determining the safety of drugs and this is even critical when vital organs including the kidneys and liver are involved.

Since pharmacokinetics (PK) of drugs can influence the safety and efficacy of drugs, this PhD project further assessed the disposition kinetics of ivermectin (IVM). Despite that IA is given in combination during MDA, Ivermectin (IVM) only was chosen for PK analysis. This is because IVM has a dosage regimen that is unique as it considers the weight of an individual. We wanted also to explore whether individuals receive the correct dose of the drug since height poles are normally used to estimate the weight and therefore dose of IVM during MDA.

Taking the context into perspective and considering the nature of the project, five studies were therefore conducted as delineated in this thesis. The methods, results, and conclusions of each study have also been outlined in detail.

1 Literature review

1.1 An Overview and Global Burden of Neglected Tropical Diseases

Neglected Tropical Diseases (NTDs) are diseases of poor settings which have been forgotten. Many countries including national disease surveillance programmes have not taken deliberate measures or efforts to prevent or eliminate them. They are usually endemic in areas with tropical and subtropical climates (high temperatures and humidity) and where people do not have access to clean water (poor sanitation), are in close contact with vectors, unsafe ways to dispose of human waste, and inadequate healthcare delivery services [1, 2]. The majority of these diseases are found in Africa, Asia, and Latin America [3, 4]. The diseases have likewise received low attention on national and international health agendas [1].

NTDs include Buruli ulcer, Chagas disease (American trypanosomiasis), dengue and chikungunya, dracunculiasis (Guinea worm disease), echinococcosis, foodborne trematode infections (clonorchiasis, fascioliasis, opisthorchiasis, and paragonimiasis), human African trypanosomiasis (African Sleeping Sickness), leishmaniasis, leprosy (Hansen's disease), lymphatic filariasis (LF) (elephantiasis), mycetoma, onchocerciasis (Oncho) (river blindness), rabies, scabies, schistosomiasis, loiasis (African or Tropical eye worm), soil-transmitted helminths (STH) infections (Ascaris, Hookworm, and Whipworm), taeniasis and cysticercosis, trachoma and yaws (endemic treponematoses) [4–6].

The diseases are still a global burden to many countries and are responsible for many illnesses, suffering, stigma, and low productivity, particularly in impoverished communities [7, 8]. Most families are to-date trapped in a cycle of diseases and poverty [6]. Overall, NTDs affect approximately 2 billion people globally including 0.5 billion children, and are responsible for causing around 200,000 deaths annually [6]. Herricks *et al.* published a review study on the global burden of diseases in 2017 and identified soil-transmitted helminthiases, schistosomiasis, and food-borne trematodiases as the most common NTDs worldwide. On the other hand, visceral leishmaniasis, rabies, and Chagas disease were recognized as the most common causes of death related to NTDs globally [9]. These diseases together represent a loss of 25.1 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs), 16.9 million years of those with disability, and 8.21 million years of life lost [9].

Amongst the NTDs, the following can be controlled or even eliminated through mass drug administration (MDA) or other effective interventions – Dracunculiasis, LF, Oncho, Schistosomiasis, STH, and Trachoma [4]. However, with resource constraints and low socioeconomic status amongst communities, these diseases are still endemic. Well-designed and regular studies need to be done to determine the prevalence and disease extent for the long-term elimination of NTDs to free communities from such blight.

1.2 The Global Burden of Lymphatic Filariasis

Lymphatic filariasis (LF) is one of the NTDs that still affects endemic communities. It is also endemic in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) affecting all age groups including children [3, 5]. In 1996, WHO estimated that some 120 million people worldwide were affected by LF, of whom about 40 million were incapacitated and disfigured by the scourge [5, 10]. In 2000, about 40% of LF-infected people were from SSA, with cases ranging from 46 to 51 million, and an estimated at-risk population of 432 million people [5, 10, 11]. By 2015 it was estimated that about 251 million people were living in areas of LF transmission in SSA [5, 12]. Of these, 96 million lived in areas co-endemic with both LF and Oncho and 83 million in LF mono-endemic areas [5, 12]. In 2018, the total estimated at-risk population requiring intervention in Africa was 341 million [13]. Again, in 2018, 893 million people in 49 countries were living in areas that required preventive chemotherapy to stop the spread of LF [10]. Between 2000 and 2020, 8.6 billion cumulative treatments were distributed to more than 925 million people at least once in 68 countries [14].

The disease is usually acquired during childhood with visible manifestations observed later in life [10, 15–17]. It is the leading cause of long-term disability worldwide causing lymphoedema (elephantiasis), hydrocele, and adenolymphangitis [5, 15, 18]. In 2000, around 15 million people were estimated to have lymphoedema and 25 million men had urogenital swelling, principally scrotal hydrocele [5, 13]. The WHO estimated approximately 40 million individuals suffered from the stigmatizing and disabling clinical manifestations of the disease in 2000 [4, 5, 13].



Figure 1: LF endemic and non-endemic countries. Source: [19].

1.3 Global Programme to Eliminate LF

Many efforts are currently being undertaken by countries to prevent and eliminate LF. Controlling the vectors (i.e., mosquitoes) that transmit the disease and improving sanitation and hygiene are highly effective strategies against LF [4, 5]. The 50th World Health Assembly (WHA) meeting which was held in 1997 resolved to eliminate LF as a public health problem (Resolution WHA 50.29) [5]. The Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis (GPELF) was then launched by WHO in 2000 [5]. The overall goal of GPELF was to eliminate LF as a public health plague by 2020 [5, 13]. Two strategies were deployed for countries to adopt – MDA of microfilaricidal drugs to the entire at-risk population to halt transmission and morbidity management in case of those who have full-blown disease [20, 21].

MDA is effective in reducing infection to levels below the threshold at which mosquitoes cannot continue to spread the parasites from one person to another and therefore prevent transmission of infection. Depending on endemicity and the type of disease prevailing in the concerned community, the WHO recommends the use of two drug regimens – a combination of Ivermectin and Albendazole (IA) or Ivermectin, Diethylcarbamazine and Albendazole (IDA) [5]. IA is used in areas where LF is mono-endemic and is not recommended in areas where co-endemicity with Oncho or loiasis exists [5]. This is due to safety concerns as the IDA combination is associated with life-threatening adverse drug reactions (i.e., Mazzotti reactions) in those exposed [5].

Since the introduction of GPELF, regular studies and field research need to be done to measure the prevalence of LF and interventions targeting the reduction of disease transmission. This will also ascertain the impact of long-term MDA to at-risk populations and its effectiveness in reducing morbidity and disease burden to communities. The programme itself needs to be evaluated to figure out if it attains its envisaged milestones or not.

1.4 The Burden of LF in Tanzania

Tanzania has not been spared by LF. The country ranks third of the African nations in terms of the highest burden of LF, with over 34 million people at risk of acquiring the disease, and more than 6 million infected [8, 22, 23]. The disease is more prevalent along the coastline of the Indian Ocean where Mkinga district is also located. Men are the most affected as they most of the time spend their time fishing on the offshores of the Indian Ocean. At the time of MDA, they are the ones who also miss out on drug administration due to this sort of lifestyle.

Mosquito vectors are responsible for the wide spreading of the disease. The transmission of LF is through mosquito bites and the disease follows the malaria transmission pattern. Nevertheless, patterns of infection have also been observed in the inner parts of mainland Tanzania [23–25]. Vector control using insecticide-treated nets, residual spraying, and avoiding mosquito bites, particularly during the night, plays a crucial role in LF control.

Poor MDA coverage has also proven to be a factor in the ongoing transmission of the disease. MDA campaigns conducted in endemic districts of the country with good coverage can subsequently reduce disease transmission and enable the country to achieve LF elimination. Post-MDA surveillance and Transmission Assessment Surveys (TAS) after at least 5 consecutive MDA campaigns are recommended by WHO [5]. Such a survey must measure that transmission is declining to levels where recrudescence is unlikely to occur.

1.5 Life Cycle and Transmission of LF

LF is transmitted by three species of thread-like nematode worms namely – *Wuchereria bancrofti, Brugia malayi, and Brugia timori* [5, 26]. Male worms are about 3–4 centimeters in length, and female worms 8–10 centimeters [16].



Wuchereria bancrofti

Brugia malayi

Brugia timori



W. bancrofti is the most common and accounts for many disease conditions (>90%) seen in patients [26, 27]. The life cycle of *W. bancrofti* involves two hosts

(i.e., humans and mosquitoes). The adult parasites that reside in the lymphatics of the human host produce first-stage larvae (microfilariae - mf) after mating which move to the peripheral blood circulation. The mf exhibits diurnal periodicity and normally resides in the deep vein during the day before migrating to the peripheral circulation during the night. They reach peak concentrations in 4 hours from around 10 pm to 4 am. This occurs due to an adaptation of the worms to the biting behaviours of the vector (i.e., mosquitoes) responsible for the transmission of LF [28]. During the feeding episode of these vector mosquitoes, mf is taken up during the night from the infected host and matures into the motile larvae which are then transmitted to a new human host during the next feeding. All mosquito species including Culex, Aedes, and Anopheles are responsible for transmission of LF [5, 26]. The mature larvae then migrate to the bloodstream and move through the lymphatic system to regional lymph nodes, predominantly in the legs and genital areas [29] where it is responsible for several clinical manifestations [30]. The larvae then develop into adult worms over one year and reach sexual maturity in the afferent lymphatic vessels. After mating, the adult female worm can produce thousands of mf that migrate to the peripheral bloodstream to repeat the life cycle [10]. The worms can live for approximately 6–8 years during their lifetime, producing millions of mf circulating in blood [30].



Figure 3: Life cycle of LF. Source: [31].

1.6 Clinical Manifestations of LF

LF infection involves asymptomatic, acute, and chronic stages. Despite that all age groups can be affected transmission is usually during early childhood with consequences observed later in life [11, 16, 23]. The male and female worms together form "nests" in the human lymphatic system – the network of nodes and vessels that maintain the delicate fluid balance between blood and body tissues [32]. The majority of infections are asymptomatic, without any external signs of infection contributing to transmission of the parasite. These asymptomatic infections still cause damage to the lymphatic system and the kidneys and alter the body's immune system. The kidney damage can be as many as 40% with proteinuria and haematuria [16, 33]. When LF develops into a chronic condition it leads to lymphoedema (tissue swelling) or elephantiasis (skin/tissue thickening) of limbs and hydrocele (scrotal swelling). Involvement of breasts and genital organs is also common [14].

Acute episodes of local inflammation involving skin, lymph nodes, and lymphatic vessels often accompany chronic lymphoedema or elephantiasis. Some of these episodes are caused by the body's immune response to the parasite. Most are the result of secondary bacterial skin infections where normal defenses have been partially lost due to underlying lymphatic damage. These acute including recurrent attacks are painful and often accompanied by fever [5, 14]. They may also last for weeks and are the primary cause of lost wages amongst people suffering from LF. Lymphoedema and hydrocele are the classic clinical manifestations taken into account by NTD programmes when measuring disease prevalence and morbidity in communities.



Figure 4: Clinical manifestations of LF. Source: [34].

1.7 Diagnosis of LF

Diagnosis of LF is two-fold. The first stage involves the detection of antigens in the blood of an infected individual. This involves screening of individuals for CFA using the Filariasis Test Strip (FTS). The FTS detects CFA released in the blood by adult worms [35]. There are few manufacturers of these strips including Alere©, Waltham, United States. Briefly, the test involves, a finger prick to be made using a sterile disposable lancet to collect blood samples. A special pipette may be used to apply approximately 75 μ L of blood on the FTS and reading results in a few minutes (e.g., 10 min).

After FTS, all antigenemia-positive individuals are eligible for determination of mf in blood. Such individuals should be identified and approached for night blood sampling. Finger prick blood samples should be taken from individuals at night between 9 pm to 4 am and poured onto 75 μ L capillary tubes. Each blood sample is dispensed into a 1.8 mL cryo-tube containing 900 μ L of 3% acetic acid, mixed thoroughly, and transferred into the Sedgwick-Rafter counting chamber. Estimation of worms is henceforth done by counting the number of mf in the chamber, using a compound light microscope set at 4×magnification. Results are reported as the number of microfilariae per 75 μ L of blood.



Figure 5: FTS and Sedgwick-Rafter counting chamber showing detected microfilariae. Source: Test results obtained during laboratory investigations at NIMR Tanga.

1.8 Prevalence of LF in Tanzania

Tanzania is amongst the SSA countries still affected by LF. An estimated 34 million people were at risk and six million were affected by the year 2000 [36, 37]. It was during this time that the National Lymphatic Filariasis Elimination Programme (NLFEP) was established.

The prevalence of mf and CFA in the community was 24.5% and 53.3% respectively, before MDA intervention in 2002 [22]. The same considerably

decreased after six rounds of MDA to 2.7% and 19.6%, respectively [22]. In 2004, the mf prevalence in the Tanga region before MDA was 24.5%, while that of CFA was 63.3%, and for specific antibodies to recombinant filarial antigen was 78.9% [38]. After 8 rounds of MDA, the CFA and mf prevalence in combined study communities was reduced by 75.5% and 89.6%, respectively, compared to baseline levels [39]. At the same time, the CFA prevalence in school children was reduced by 90.9% compared to baseline [38, 39].

In the same location, a reduction of infection prevalence to low levels of 1% was noted, but along the coast of the Indian Ocean, the prevalence of infection was still higher than what was expected [38, 40]. In the current PhD programme, the overall prevalence of CFA positivity at the end of 2018 in the Mkinga district, was 5.8% and that of mf was 5.2% [10]. Global and national efforts have been undertaken but still, LF continues to affect poor people especially those living in rural areas. As we have surpassed the WHO-GPELF target of 2020, evidence still suggests that the disease is still prevalent, and the elimination target has not been met yet.

1.9 Preventive Chemotherapy Strategies Through MDA Campaigns

Preventive chemotherapy is a disease control strategy that is used in highendemic areas to reduce transmission or eliminate the disease from the community altogether. This can be achieved through administering medicines to the entire eligible population of an area at regular intervals, irrespective of the individual infection status (MDA). MDA has proven to play a key role in decreasing and reducing the transmission rates in populations at risk. It can also prevent the progression from sub-clinical to clinical stages of the disease including worsening morbidity. Drugs used for MDA as recommended by WHO in LF endemic communities include a combination of ivermectin and albendazole (IA) in areas not co-endemic with oncho or loiasis [5, 41].



Figure 6: Ivermectin and Albendazole tablets in their original packs. Source: Photos taken during fieldwork.

These drugs are given as donations through the Mectizan Donation Programme [42] and administered on an annual basis at doses of ivermectin (150–200 μ g/kg) with albendazole (400 mg) for the duration of the reproductive lifespan of adult parasites [5]. The drugs have a microfilaricidal effect and act by destroying the microfilariae but not adult worms [17]. The entire population at risk can be given such drug regimen but not pregnant women or children of less than 90 cm in height (approximately equivalent to < 15 kg body weight) and the severely ill [5]. The dose of IVM needs to be given based on the weight of an individual [21] as highlighted in **Table 1a**.

Weight range (kg)	Number of Tablets (mg)
15 - 22	1 (3mg)
23 - 37	2 (6mg)
38 – 52	3 (9mg)
53 - 67	4 (12mg)
68 - 82	5 (15mg)
83 - 97	6 (18mg)
≥ 98	7 (21mg)

Table 1a: Weight-based dosing schedule for IVM during MDA

However, due to logistical challenges including obtaining accurate weight measurements in remote and resource-limited areas as well as the feasibility of supplying adequate weighing scales during MDA, height-based dosing is currently recommended as an alternative to weight-based dosing during MDA [43, 44]. **Table 1b** below highlights the height-based dosing of IVM used by the NTD programme in Tanzania.

Table 1b: Height-based dosing schedule for IVM during MDA

Height (cm)	Number of Tablets (mg)
< 90	0
90 - 119	1 (3mg)
120 - 139	2 (6mg)
140 – 159	3 (9mg)
> 159	4 (12mg)

Source: [45]

The effectiveness of the MDA strategy depends on epidemiological coverage, which is defined as the proportion of the total population ingesting the medicines during MDA [5]. WHO considers at least 65% epidemiological coverage to be an effective MDA round. In programmes where drug coverage is poor or where

transmission is particularly intense, more than five MDA rounds are needed to lower levels of infection below elimination thresholds [5].

1.10 Safety Surveillance Through Cohort Event Monitoring (CEM) Method

Safety surveillance of medicines begins during pre- or non-clinical stages. This early phase is pivotal for protecting the health of individuals taking part in clinical drug development [46]. The same needs to be expanded to detect and minimize risks to drug users after marketing authorization. Upon approval of a medicinal product, what follows is post-marketing surveillance (PMS) which also embraces the pharmacovigilance (PV) of marketed products. The WHO defines pharmacovigilance "as the science and activities relating to the detection, assessment, understanding, and prevention of adverse effects or any other medicine/vaccine-related problem" [47, 48].

Two methods of safety data collection are deployed in PV programmes by many countries. These include spontaneous or passive and active reporting methods. Passive reporting involves the voluntary sending of reports by healthcare providers or patients to National Medicines Regulatory Authorities (NMRAs). This method has experienced mounting challenges including under-reporting of AEs. Experience shows that few reports are received by NMRAs and the factors associated are well reported [49–52].

On the flip side, many authorities have now switched to the active safety reporting method which has proven to be instrumental, particularly in increasing the number of AE reports. Active safety surveillance involves the systematic collection of information on the presence or absence of AEs within a defined group of people [53]. One type of active safety surveillance method that has been piloted and is now widely used is cohort event monitoring (CEM). CEM uses intensive measures of collecting data on AEs that may occur as a result of drug use in a particular setting [54-56]. Compared to a passive reporting system, CEM has many advantages in PV as the method is capable of providing incidence rates of AEs, characterizing known ADRs, detecting interactions with other medicines, identifying risk factors, and providing a measure of comparative risk between medicines [54-57]. With the CEM method, proactive measures are taken to ask for events from individuals or patients, and the same is applied within a short time [54-56]. This method can be deployed to monitor the safety of medicines used for diseases of public health importance or for new medicines and public health interventions that have recently been introduced in clinical practice. The WHO also recommends a seven-day interval of safety monitoring of drugs used in public health interventions using this method [47]. Tanzania began using the CEM method in 2016 which involved a follow-up of an anti-malarial combination drug namely artemether + lumefantrine (ALu) [58]. Since then, experience in organizing and conducting such studies has been gained and the method was adopted in conducting the safety study reported in this current doctorate programme.

1.11 Safety of Ivermectin and Albendazole

lvermectin and albendazole are the drugs of choice for MDA in LF mono-endemic communities. Combinations containing diethylcarbamazine (DEC) are also used in other countries but not recommended in areas where there is co-endemicity between LF and oncho or loiasis. This is due to severe adverse drug reactions (Mazzotti reactions characterized by pruritus, rash, fever, malaise, lymphadenopathy, arthralgia, tachycardia, hypotension, oedema and abdominal pain) observed and documented [59–62].

Ivermectin acts by killing the larvae stage of mf but not adult worms [17] and it binds with high affinity to glutamate-gated chloride channels which occurs in the invertebrate nerve and muscle cells, causing an increase in the permeability of the cell membrane to chloride ions with hyperpolarization of the nerve or muscle cell [59, 63, 64]. Albendazole has a vermicidal effect and acts by causing degenerative alterations in the intestinal cells of the worm by binding to the colchicine-sensitive site of β-tubulin of parasites, thus inhibiting its polymerization or assembly into microtubules [65]. Taking into account their modes of action, both drugs may be associated with AEs. The inflammatory response that arises due to the presence or death of parasites in the lymphatic or blood streams has been found to trigger and elicit AEs. Mild to moderate systemic AEs related to the death of mf were also reported by Budge et. al. in their review of the literature [66]. Severe ADRs have been observed in patients with more than 30,000 microfilariae/ml and the risk is very high with loads above 50,000 microfilariae/ml [67, 68]. Many other studies have also reported an association between the chronic manifestation of LF as a risk factor and the development of AEs after using a combination of IA [66, 69-72]. Central and peripheral nervous system disorders associated with IVM use were also reported by Nzolo et.al. in the search of Vigibase in 2017 [73].

Commonly known AEs associated with ivermectin include nausea, diarrhoea, dizziness, itching, skin rash, swelling of the hands or feet, swelling or tenderness of lymph nodes, weakness, confusion, lack of coordination or vertigo, somnolence, urinary or bowel problems, seizures or convulsions, eye redness and vision changes or problems with vision [10, 69]. These ivermectin-induced AEs have been observed during non-clinical and clinical investigations and documented in the summary of product characteristics (SmPC) and package inserts published by manufacturers [74]. Almost similar events had also been reported for albendazole alone [75]. PV of IA during MDA in Tanzania had not been practised before and this has been the centre stage of the current doctorate programme to

comprehensively investigate the safety of the concerned drugs after mass community exposure.

1.12 Need for Safety Surveillance During MDA

During MDA, drugs are administered on a large scale to at-risk populations without prior screening or diagnosis. Communities are highly exposed to preventive chemotherapy and the PV infrastructure is weak. Given the relatively poor systems and limited resources in these settings, PV data collected is scarce, particularly in SSA. Safety surveillance studies to detect the types, severity and risk factors of AEs during MDA are vital for the detection, assessment, understanding and prevention of adverse effects. Occurrence of AEs following MDA can cause non-adherence to MDA, which may profoundly impact the treated community and jeopardize programme success. Communities which are well-informed about the type and severity of AEs to be expected may be less likely to avoid MDA out of fear of AEs, therefore leading to increased public confidence.

PV is a key function of any medicine's regulatory authority, Tanzania inclusive. In Tanzania, the Tanzania Medicines and Medical Devices Authority (TMDA) is mandated by law (*The Tanzania Medicines and Medical Devices Act, Cap 219*) [76] to regulate the quality, safety and efficacy of medicines. The TMDA has set up a robust regulatory mechanism to control the manufacturing, importation, distribution, supply and sale of medicines in mainland Tanzania. Through its PV system, the TMDA can detect AEs that occur in those exposed to medicines in the country, analyse them and take regulatory action(s). The PV system was first introduced in 1993. However, the system still experiences challenges including under-reporting of AEs from healthcare providers or patients. PV had also not been very well integrated into the NTD programme to collaborate in the reporting of AEs for drugs used in this PHP.

Taking these into account and since safety monitoring had not been very active since the introduction of MDA in 2002, the reported safety study was therefore conducted adopting a CEM methodology. The study recruited a large sample size as previous reports indicate that other studies conducted elsewhere were of few sample sizes and most of them were inconclusive on the safety of IA.

1.13 Monitoring of Biological Parameters Following MDA

Monitoring of changes in biological parameters after drug use is not very common in SSA. The same is also true for drugs used in MDA programmes. Many investigators follow up safety of medicines by only collecting data on AEs reported but not conducting laboratory investigations to figure out any changes in haematological and biochemical parameters. The reason could be it is costly and time-consuming to do so. Nonetheless, for adequate investigation of the
safety of drugs, it is pivotal to design and organize safety studies targeting the measurement of biological parameters. This would allow for a comprehensive assessment of drug-related illnesses particularly involving the vital organs such as the kidneys, liver and heart. It would also help in establishing the mechanism of preventing drug-induced AEs and safeguarding public health. Many studies on haematological and biochemical changes after IVM and ALB use have been explored in animals and reported [77–83]. Few studies conducted in humans have also reported haematological and biochemical changes after the use of IVM or ALB alone or in combination despite their small sample sizes and inconclusive findings. Most of these studies involving IVM alone focused mainly on the use of the drug in onchocerciasis.

IA are both metabolized in the liver through the cytochrome P450 enzyme system [33, 84]. Both have the potential to cause liver injury. The first case of IVM-induced severe liver disease was reported on a 20-year-old woman originally from Cameroon one month after using a single dose of the drug in 2006 [85]. Hepatic and renal disorders after IVM administration were also reported by Campillo et.al in the review of Vigibase, the WHO's global individual case safety reports database [59]. Significant changes in kidney function were observed in a study done in Cameroon whereby serum creatinine and urea levels were significantly altered after IVM use [86]. In this same study, however, the liver function was normal after repeated administration of IVM as AST and ALT levels did not change. A study done in Ghana and Ecuador demonstrated that treatment of patients with onchocerciasis with high-dose of IVM was associated with marked posttreatment increases in plasma tryptase levels and local reactions were strongly correlated with eosinophil derived neurotoxin (EDN) and interleukin-5 (IL-5) [87]. A clear correlation between the appearance of mast cells and attacks on damaged mf by eosinophils and macrophages and in adult worms by neutrophils after IVM treatment was likewise observed in a study done by Wildenburg et. al. [88]. Furthermore, Zheng et. al. compared the effect of IVM with that of DEC on several parameters of immune response and concluded that both treatments triggered an increase in serum levels of IL-1, TNF and IL-6 in all patients studied [89]. No elevated TNF alpha levels were found, but IL-6 and CRP were elevated in patients after IVM treatment in a study done by Njoo *et al* [90]. In a study done by Burchard et.al., a slight but significant increase in the excretion of urinary albumin and alpha1-microglobulin was seen five days after IVM treatment in all treated patients, whereas levels of proteinuria were significantly higher only in patients with high microfilarial densities [91]. The study concluded that IVM can cause minor and not clinically relevant glomerular and tubular disturbances in patients.

For a comprehensive safety evaluation, this doctorate programme thoroughly investigated the haematological and biochemical parameters in CFA-positive and

negative individuals to find out any changes in parameters as a measure of the safety of IA following MDA.

1.14 Pharmacokinetics Analysis of MDA Drugs

IA combination preventive chemotherapy has been deployed during MDA on an annual basis in Tanzania since 2002. The effectiveness of these drugs during MDA depends in part on their PK disposition. Differences in anatomical, physiological and biochemical characteristics amongst exposed individuals may influence PK profiles. Albeit, these combination drugs have been used since then, the PK disposition of IVM in particular has not been fully evaluated in different populations. The review of literature has highlighted that PK studies of IVM alone have been conducted mostly in a low number of healthy adults or adults infected with *Onchocerca volvulus* or *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria [62, 92–96]. A PK characterization of IVM is critical to determine its disposition when exposed to antigenemia-positive or negative individuals in LF-endemic communities. As the drug has been and will continue to be used in MDA, and since individuals with or without prior disease manifestations including LF, are annually exposed, there is a need to comprehensively study the disposition of IVM to consistently deploy it safely and effectively in future MDA campaigns.

As indicated above, IVM is metabolized in the liver through the cytochrome P450 enzyme system [33, 84]. The drug is highly lipophilic with high membrane permeability and its plasma exposure depends on the body mass index (BMI) of an individual [97]. Its protein bound is 93% and it does not cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) [92, 98-100]. P-glycoprotein (Pgp) plays a role in its uptake into the central nervous system (CNS) causing neurotoxic effects such as ataxia, tremors, myoclonus, seizures, encephalopathy and coma as reported [101, 102]. Similarly, Pgp is also responsible for the efflux of IVM from the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) membrane affecting its bioavailability [101]. Its elimination half-life ranges between 25 and 80 hours [98, 99, 103]. The drug including its metabolites is excreted mainly in faeces and only 1% in urine as previously reported [104].

ALB is a substrate of CYP450, mainly through CYP2J2 and to a lesser extent through CYP3A4/5 [105]. Through this pathway, ALB by itself may compete with IVM for the same metabolism. All these characteristics may differ between populations and potentially affect the disposition of IVM and therefore the need for further evaluation. IVM showed a lower exposure profile in children compared with adults, in a study done by Schulz *et. al.* [96], highlighting the need to establish dosing recommendations for different age groups. Dosing is critical in MDA as IVM is always given based on body weight.

Despite its widespread use, the PK characteristics of IVM are still poorly understood. Great awareness of its characteristics will improve clinical efficacy,

especially in future MDA programmes. This had therefore been the centre stage of this PhD programme to evaluate the PK disposition of IVM when deployed during MDA in endemic communities of north-eastern Tanzania.

1.15 Population Pharmacokinetics Modelling

The PK sub-study in this PhD programme focused on blood sample collection from individuals taking part in MDA in rural communities. The timing of drug administration and consequently sampling for PK analysis was different to each individual depending on their availability and once they show up at the study sites identified. The elimination half-life of IVM ranges between 25 and 80 hours [98, 99, 103]. This long half-life also helps to kill the mf stage of the adult worms once they migrate to the blood circulation from the lymphatic system during the night. Considering the long elimination half-life of the drug, it was not feasible to prolong blood sampling up to 80 hours with the sample size targeted.

Since population PK (POPPK) modelling can help overcome this challenge, it was therefore decided to adopt a modelling approach to analyse the PK parameters. POPPK modelling is a concept which had recently been introduced and it has been instrumental in helping researchers to describe PK disposition kinetics of drugs in populations. Modelling can be applied in case of missing PK data or in areas where it is not feasible to conduct PK studies, particularly for drugs with longer elimination half-lives. The model can utilize few sampling points, ensures adherence to study protocols and minimizes losses to follow-up. It can also be used to precisely estimate the expected or observed data from the population studied. Through modelling an estimation of the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ and elimination half-life which are critical PK parameters for determining drug exposure as a measure of bioavailability can easily be done. It can as well be used to test for any covariates that may predict or influence the PK exposure of a drug. The POPPK model was therefore adopted to estimate PK parameters from blood samples collected at four sampling points (i.e., pre-dose and at 2-, 4-, and 6-hours post-dose) in this PhD programme.

Different researchers have designed different models that are used by many in PK analysis. These are available and easily accessible from the literature. The oral route is the only approved for IVM administration in humans. The one and two-compartmental models with first-order oral absorption have been used to describe the IVM kinetic behaviour after its oral administration [106-108].

El-Tahtawy *et. al.* reported two prior population-based PK studies of IVM, both of which were re-analyses of interaction trials involving the drug. The first was a reanalysis of an interaction study with azithromycin using a two-compartment model with first-order oral absorption and elimination, and additionally implementing a mixture model for bioavailability [109]. Kobylinski *et. al.* [99] and Na-Bangchang *et. al.* [110] reported a study in 2017 that employed a twocompartment model with linear elimination, with two transit absorption compartments. In this study, data was pooled from a trial involving healthy Thai volunteers with albendazole +/- praziquantel as a concomitant medication.

Duthaler *et. al.* developed a POPPK model to study the variability in PK of IVM focusing on body composition and enterohepatic circulation (EHC). In this study, dried blood spots (DBS) samples were used to relate the concentrations of the drug in plasma [111]. González Canga *et. al.* [104] and Chaccour *et. al.* [112] also reviewed the sources of PK variability including the proposed existence of EHC in their studies done previously.

Together with the models developed by El-Tahtawy *et. al.* [109] and Duthaler *et. al.* [111], our literature search in this PhD programme further identified three other POPPK models of IVM all of which reported 2-compartment disposition kinetics [113-115]. Based on comparisons of objective function values (OFV) obtained by Bayesian estimation of individual PK parameters using the identified models, we selected Duthaler's model [111] as the reference model for our modelling. In addition to its relatively lower OFV compared to other models, Duthaler's model of 2019 was based on rich PK samples, had good precision of parameter estimates, and its predicted mean concentration profiles were more comparable to our observed mean profiles than other models.

1.16 Efficacy of Ivermectin and Albendazole to Stop Transmission of LF

IA are deployed in combination during MDA to halt the transmission of LF. Prior evidence suggests that they are effective in killing the parasites responsible for the aetiology of LF. IVM alone exhibits a microfilaricidal effect and ALB alone has a vermicidal effect, as reported [17, 59, 63, 64] [65]. IVM cannot kill the adult parasites hence the need for its use in combination with ALB to exert the intended effect. Adult parasites nest in the lymphatic system and can live for an average of 6–8 years producing millions of mf [19, 116]. The same do not always die after treatment and MDA must be maintained for the duration of time the adult worms retain fecundity [5].

Many studies have been conducted before and reported the efficacy of IVM alone or in combination with ALB [117-125]. Nonetheless, the performance of the drug may be affected by many factors including drug exposure (Cmax and AUC), genetics, parasite stage (microfilaria versus adult worms) and resistance pattern. IA drug combination is capable of killing mf with minimal or no effect on adult filarial worms [5]. The fact that IA does not kill the adult worms, may contribute to the observed continued disease transmission in the endemic areas. The combination is further recommended for use in LF-endemic areas where the disease is not co-endemic with oncho and loiasis due to serious ADRs reported. This has resulted in the avoidance of using combinations containing DEC (i.e., IDA or DA) in Tanzania which has proven to kill the adult parasites responsible for repeated transmission of the disease. The DA regimen is an effective microfilaricidal combination used for MDA in areas where oncho is not co-endemic. The medicines, used alone and in combination, have also shown macrofilaricidal effects against adult worms [126–129].

The development of a more efficacious, field-ready and safe macrofilaricide for LF has been sought, and research has been ongoing for several decades. Programmatic studies to delineate the absence of oncho and loiasis that demonstrate the safe introduction of DEC in countries are also needed. IDA combination has also an acceptable safety profile and is more effective for clearing mf. With adequate compliance and medical support to manage AEs, IDA has the potential to accelerate LF elimination in Tanzania. The same had been observed in a study done in India [130]. With persistent prevalence and continued exposure which might be attributed to the potential for parasite tolerance including the emergence of drug resistance, more studies on efficacy are warranted. The efficacy of drugs in reducing parasite reservoirs in the community and interruption of transmission is henceforth key to LF elimination.

2 Research aims

2.1 Broad Objective

The main aim of this PhD research project was to assess the safety and efficacy of drugs (i.e., ivermectin and albendazole) deployed during MDA in endemic communities of Tanzania. This was achieved first by determining the prevalence and correlates of LF infection followed by a CEM study that allowed for active safety follow-up of individuals in affected communities. The blood, liver, and kidney functions including the PK profile were further explored to characterize and determine their correlation with the safety and efficacy of ivermectin. Individuals exposed to IA were then followed up for six months to ascertain the efficacy of MDA drugs in suppressing infection.

2.2 Specific Objectives

- To determine the prevalence and correlates of lymphatic filariasis infection and its morbidity following MDA in Mkinga District, North-Eastern Tanzania (Paper I).
- To assess the safety of ivermectin and albendazole using cohort event monitoring method during MDA in lymphatic filariasis endemic communities of Mkinga district, North-Eastern Tanzania (Paper II).
- To evaluate the haematological and biochemical changing patterns on surrogate markers after MDA in filariasis endemic communities of Tanzania (Paper III).
- 4. To evaluate ivermectin pharmacokinetic disposition including its predictors following MDA in Mkinga district, North-Eastern Tanzania (**Paper IV**).
- To assess the efficacy of ivermectin and albendazole following MDA in suppressing transmission of lymphatic filariasis in endemic communities of rural Tanzania (Paper V).

3 Materials and methods

3.1 Study Setting

The fieldwork for this PhD research project was conducted in the Mkinga district, Tanga region – the north-eastern part of Tanzania (05°04'S, 39°06'E). Other districts in the Tanga region include Handeni, Kilindi, Korogwe, Lushoto, Muheza, Pangani, and Tanga. The district is situated along the coast of the Indian Ocean bordering Muheza district and Tanga city to the South, the Indian Ocean to the East, Korogwe and Lushoto districts to the West, and Kenya border to the North (**Figure 7**).



Figure 7: Map of the study site. Left is the map of Tanzania located in the Eastern part of Africa. The top-right figure shows the map of the Tanga region, where the Mkinga district is located. The bottom-right figure shows the map of wards in the Mkinga district, whereby villages in these wards participated in this study. The study site map was originally generated using ArcGIS software version 10.7.1

The district has two main rainy seasons in a year (bimodal): the long rains from March to June, and the less intensive short rains from November to December. The region has a warm and wet climate due to the influence of the Indian Ocean. Humidity is high and often goes up to 100% maximum and ranges from 65% to 70% minimum. According to the national census conducted in 2012, the Mkinga district population was 118,065, with 48.9% (57,760) being male, and the population density was 44 people per sq. km. The altitude ranges from 0 to 1506 m above sea level, measuring from the Nilo peak [131]. The population of the Tanga region following 2022 census results was 2,615,597 [132]. The main economic activities in this district include fishing, subsistence farming, low-scale livestock keeping, and petty trading.

3.2 Study design, population, and sample size

Different study designs were adopted to attain the overall goal of the PhD project (**Figure 8**).



Figure 8: Study flow chart

The initial intention of the study was to first screen individuals in the community to determine those who were CFA positive and negative. This is because individuals with parasitaemia experience more AEs as compared to those without, due to an inflammatory response that occurs in those harbouring adult worms. The prevalence study therefore pre-screened 4,000 individuals to determine their CFA status. In this study, a cross-sectional study design was adopted. A purposive sampling technique was used to select 15 villages based on the past transmission trends, as assessed by CFA [39]. A convenient technique was further employed to recruit individuals with clinical conditions and laboratory results consistent with study objectives. The sampled villages were backed up with a review of epidemiological data from NTDCP. Study villages selected included Kichalikani, Kizingani, Kwale, Mongavyeru, Mwandusi, Tawalani, Manza, Kichakamiba, Subutuni, Zingibari, Moa, Ndumbani, Mayomboni, Bamba-Mwarongo (B'Mwarongo), and Maramba A.

The safety study then followed whereby 10,000 individuals were targeted for follow-up to document AEs occurring to them. In this study, a prospective, longitudinal, active CEM following MDA of IA was adopted. A cohort size of 10,000 individuals was targeted based on the assumption that a cohort of 3000 individuals gives a 95% probability of identifying a single AE with an incidence of 1:1000 [54, 55]. For a meaningful assessment, at least three events need to be identified and therefore this was the objective of aiming a larger sample size of 10,000 individuals [55, 133].

The second safety study utilized the analytical prospective longitudinal design to follow up individuals to determine the short-term effects of IA following MDA on the haematological parameters, liver and renal functions, and their relationship with safety. This study was nested in a bigger active surveillance study and data of 499 individuals was evaluated. Blood samples for haematological and biochemical testing were taken before and after uptake of IA (i.e., on days 0 and 7 respectively).

The PK study was also nested in an active surveillance safety study which aimed at investigating the PK disposition of IVM in 468 individuals. The method for detection of IVM was adopted and modified through mobile phase composition, column type, and extraction procedure to meet the optimal separation conditions. Plasma levels were quantified using the Duthaler *et. al.* LCMS/MS method [134]. The POPPK model was further developed by adapting a reference model from the literature. This was achieved by following the recommended best practices for using the PRIOR subroutine in NONMEM [135]. In the efficacy study, of the 4,115 individuals who were pre-screened in the prevalence study, 239 turned out to be CFA positive before MDA and were again tested for microscopic examination of mf seven days after MDA, which was again repeated six months later.

3.3 Data collection methods

3.3.1 Screening for CFA and mf

In the prevalence study (*Paper I*), all individuals were screened for CFA using the AlereTM Filariasis Test Strip (FTS) (Alere©, Waltham, United States). A finger prick was made using a sterile disposable lancet to collect blood samples from individuals. A special pipette with a 75 μ L mark was used to apply approximately 75 μ L of blood on the FTS and results were read in 10 min. FTS detects CFA released in the blood by adult worms (antigenemia).

For a positive confirmation of adult worms in blood one has to conduct a microscopy test to vividly see the worms after magnification. In this case, all antigenemia-positive individuals were again enrolled for night blood sampling with subsequent determination of mf. Blood sampling was done at a health facility or village office building. For those who did not show up after day blood sampling, they were followed up during the night through door-to-door visits. Finger prick blood samples were then taken from each at night between 21.00 and 01.00 h and poured onto 75 μ L capillary tubes. Each blood sample was dispensed into a 1.8 mL cryo-tube containing 900 μ L of 3% acetic acid, mixed thoroughly, and transferred into Sedgwick-Rafter counting chamber. The presence of mf was confirmed by counting their number in the chamber, using a compound light microscope set at 4×magnification. The microscopes were stationed at the NIMR laboratory in Tanga. Results were reported as the number of mf per 75 μ L of blood.

3.3.2 Safety data collection and severity grading

In the safety study (*Paper II*) data was collected through pre– and post–MDA questionnaires. Pre–MDA questionnaires were used to collect data before MDA whereby consented individuals were asked to provide details on socio-demographics, clinical/medical history, any comorbidities, concomitant medications, and current clinical symptoms. These were recorded for comparison post–MDA. On the MDA Day, study participants received a standard dose of IVM 150–200 μ g/kg and ALB 400 mg through CDDs who delivered the medications using the DOT approach. Study participants were then actively followed up for any treatment–related AEs on days 1, 2, and 7 following MDA. A cohort size of 10,000 individuals eligible to receive IA was determined based on the assumption that a cohort of 3,000 individuals gives a 95% probability of identifying a single AE with

an incidence of 1:1000 [54-56]. At least three events were needed to be identified, hence the rationale of obtaining a larger sample size of 10,000 individuals.

Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) version 5.0 [136] were used to grade the severity of observed AEs (1 to 5) as *mild, moderate, severe, potentially life-threatening,* and *death* as shown in **Table 2** below:

Grade	Severity
Grade 1	Mild - asymptomatic or mild symptoms; clinical or diagnostic observations only; intervention not indicated
Grade 2	Moderate - minimal, local, or non-invasive intervention indicated, limiting age-appropriate instrumental Activities of Daily Living (ADL)
Grade 3	Severe or medically significant but not immediately life-threatening - hospitalization or prolongation of hospitalization indicated; disabling; limiting self-care ADL
Grade 4	Life-threatening consequences - urgent intervention indicated
Grade 5	Death related to AE

Table 2: Severity grading of adverse events after MDA

3.3.3 Measurement of biological parameters

In **Paper III**, haematological and biochemical parameters were determined at baseline before medicines were taken by study participants and on day 7 following drug administration. Complete blood count (CBC) was measured from whole blood collected in EDTA tubes. The tests were run using a Sysmex XS 1000i, a five-part differential cell counter (Kobe, Japan). White blood cells, WBC (10,000/ μ l), Red blood cells, RBC (million cells/mcL), Haemoglobin, Hb (g/dl), Platelets, PLT (1,000/ μ l), differential white blood cell count (mm3) and other blood-related parameters were determined.

Collected serum was used to measure renal and kidney function tests in a wet enzymatic detection system with a semi-automated Cobas C111 analyser (Roche Diagnostics, Switzerland). Parameters measured embraced alanine aminotransferase (ALT) (IU/I), creatinine (μ mol/I), alkaline phosphatase (ALP) (IU/L), aspartate aminotransferase (AST) (IU/L), direct bilirubin (BilD) (μ mol/I) and total bilirubin (BilT) (mol/I).

Both haematological and biochemical parameters were classified as normal or abnormal based on the reference range. Haematological parameters which included WBC, RBC, Hb, HCT, MCV, MCH, MCHC, PLT, PDW, MPV, PLCR, PCT, lymphocytes, monocytes, neutrophils, and eosinophils were classified as abnormal when their values were below the lower limit of the reference range. Biochemical parameters which included serum creatinine, ALT, AST, BilD, and BilT were classified as abnormal when their values were above the upper limit of the reference range.

3.3.4 Pharmacokinetics analysis including POPPK modelling

In the PK study (*Paper IV*), study participants were given a standard dose of IVM based on height (roughly corresponding to 150–200 µg/kg). Individuals weighing > 15 Kg received 3–, 6–, 9–, or 12 mg if their height were > 90 cm and \leq 119 cm, > 119 cm and \leq 139 cm, > 139 cm and \leq 159 cm, >159 cm, respectively. All individuals received ALB 400 mg. Individuals < 15 Kg did not participate in the MDA programme. Two mL of venous blood were collected from the antecubital arm veins of participating individuals at 0–, 2–, 4–, and 6 hours following drug administration. Plasma levels of IVM were quantified using the Duthaler *et. al.* LCMS/MS method with modifications [134].

The POPPK analysis was performed using NONMEM due to limited time points obtained in the PK study. A two-compartment model with first-order absorption and disposition kinetics was used. The AUCO-∞ and terminal half-life were successfully predicted using the simulated model. Demographics and clinical and pharmacogenetic (PG) characteristics were included in the model to assess their influence on the PK of IVM.

3.3.5 Evaluation of IVM height-based dosing

During MDA in Tanzania, IVM is always administered based on height. This is due to logistical challenges and the feasibility of supplying weighing scales in rural communities. Considering the variability in dose administered, and as part of *Paper IV*, we assessed if height-based dosing of IVM results in doses >150 µg/kg in different weight bands (i.e., 15–30, 31–40, 41–50, 51–60, 61–70, 71–80, and 80–90 Kg). Doses that individuals received were divided by weight. Individuals were grouped into weight-bands and the proportion of individuals receiving < 150 µg/kg in each weight-band was calculated. We also assessed if the 200 µg/kg dosing followed by rounding to the nearest number of whole tablets achieved doses > 150 µg/Kg in different weight bands. Individuals' weights were multiplied by 200 µg/Kg and the resulting dose was rounded to the nearest number of whole tablets. The final dose was divided by body weight and the proportion of individuals receiving <150 µg/kg in each weight category was calculated. Finally, model-based simulation was used to compare IVM exposure (AUCO-∞) across weight bands after the current weight- or height-based dosing.

3.3.6 Efficacy Data Collection

In the efficacy study (*Paper V*), 239 individuals who were CFA positive in the prevalence study (*Paper I*) were enrolled. Assessment of antigenemia and detection of mf were as in *Paper I*. This exercise was, nonetheless, executed before MDA and repeated seven days and six months after MDA. Furthermore, the Cmax and AUC were assessed for between-subject variability (coefficient of variation - CV%). The association of variability in IVM PK parameters with clearance of mf and CFA after MDA was analysed as well.

3.4 Data Management and Statistical Analysis

Data was collected electronically using tablets and submitted daily to the central server at the NIMR laboratory in Tanga. The open-source data kit (ODK, <u>https://opendatakit.org/</u>) software was used to create the database and data collection applications. The data manager reviewed the collected data daily for precision and consistency and queries generated were sent back to the head of each study team for resolution. Data cleaning and validation were done continuously, and periodic reports were generated. Final cleaning was done after the surveillance, and analysis was performed according to the data analysis plan.

In **Paper I**, data were analysed using STATA version 13 and R statistical software (version 4.1.2; www.r-project.org). Descriptive statistics was used to calculate the proportion of study participants who were CFA and mf positive, and the mean mf parasite intensity. Continuous variables with normal distribution were compared using a t-test or ANOVA test. Skewed continuous variables were presented as median with interquartile ranges (IQR), and were compared using sign rank tests, while categorical data were compared using the Chi-square (χ 2) test. χ 2 test was also used to determine whether age was associated with CFA and scrotal enlargement. Binary logistic regression analyses were performed to generate odds ratios (OR) including 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) to assess potential relationships between age, sex, missing MDA, living in hotspots (exposures), and CFA positivity (outcome).

In **Paper II**, data were collected and managed as in **Paper I**, and categorical variables were summarized as proportions, while continuous variables were summarized as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median and IQR. Categorical variables were compared using the χ^2 test. Both univariate and multivariate logistic regression models were used to determine factors associated with any AEs. Significance levels in **Paper I** and **II** studies were all set at 0.05 and the confidence interval at 95%. All p-values were two-sided and a p-value of less than or equal to 0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance.

In Paper III, the electronically collected data were extracted into an Excel format and then imported to IBM Corp. 2019, IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 26.0 for analysis. Missing pattern analysis was conducted to assess the extent of missing values in each variable. Little Missing Completely at Random (Little's MCAR) test indicated that the missing dataset was not completely at random (χ^2 = 2628.5, df = 2028, p < 0.001), and therefore imputation was adopted. Multiple imputation was conducted in R (version 4.3.2); using mice package (version 3.16.0). Descriptive statistics were used to describe study participants' sociodemographic and clinical characteristics. Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to determine the association between CFA status and sociodemographic characteristics at baseline. Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare baseline haematological and biochemical parameters between CFA positive and negative groups. Comparison of laboratory results in unstratified, CFA positive and negative individuals before and after MDA was carried out using Wilcoxon signed rank test. McNemar test was used to compare the proportion of individuals with altered haematological and biochemical parameters before and after MDA. Binary logistic regression was used to determine the predictors of abnormal Hb concentration. Variables with p-value < 0.2 in univariable analysis were included in the multivariable model. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. A heat map was drawn to show the relationship between AEs and changes in laboratory parameters post-MDA.

In **Paper IV**, the POPPK modelling was done using NONMEM (version 7.5.0, Icon Development Solutions, http://www.iconplc.com, Ellicott City, MD, USA) with PsN (version 5.2.6; https://uupharmacometrics.github.io/PsN/) and Pirana (version 2.9.9; <u>https://www.certara.com/software/pirana-modeling-workbench/</u>). Data preparation and NONMEM results post-processing and visualization was conducted using the R statistical software (version 4.1.2; www.r-project.org). The maximum likelihood estimation method (FOCE-I in NONMEM) was used for parameter estimation. Models were evaluated using the likelihood ratio test, goodness of fit (GOF) plots, parameter uncertainty, and visual predictive checks (VPC). The difference in OFV >3.84 units (equivalent to p-value ≤0.05 for x2 distribution) between nested models was considered a statistically significant improvement in model fit. Uncertainties of model parameters were measured by RSE or bootstrap CI for the final model. Inter-individual variability (IIV) of model parameters, as measured by coefficient of variation (CV%), was also calculated. Potential covariates were identified by visual inspection of covariates versus η plots. Only biologically plausible covariates were added to the model by manual stepwise forward inclusion only. Covariates were retained in the model if their addition led to a≥3.84 decrease in OFV (i.e., p-value ≤ 0.05). Mixture modeling was

further used to find any unknown sub-populations with different typical parameter estimates compared to the main population. The final model was qualified by GOF plots, VPC, and non-parametric CI obtained by fitting the final model to 200 bootstrapped samples of the current dataset (bootstrap confidence intervals).

In *Paper V*, descriptive statistics summarized sociodemographic and clinical characteristics. To assess the impact of MDA, the McNemar test was employed to compare the proportions of microfilariae positives before and after the intervention. Factors associated with CFA status at six months were analysed using either the Chi-square or Fisher's exact tests. Univariable and multivariable logistic regression analyses were done to control for potential confounders. Factors with a p-value of <0.2 in the univariable analysis or with clinical relevance and previously reported associations were included in the multivariable model. All p-values in statistical tests were two-sided, with a significance level set at <0.05. Data visualization and analysis were performed using GraphPad Prism version 10 (California, USA).

3.5 Ethical Considerations

Before the commencement of all studies, ethical clearance was granted by the Medical Research Coordinating Committee (MRCC) of the National Institute for Medical Research, Tanzania (Certificate No. NIMR/HQ/R.8a/Vol. IX/2890 dated 17th September 2018). Initial meetings with district and village authorities were conducted explaining the aim, objectives, and mechanisms for recruiting study participants living in the study area. This was followed by community sensitization meetings, which were conducted in each village to inform the community about the purpose, methodology, and significance of the proposed research, and to obtain community consent. Questions were asked, and explanations were provided, by researchers during these meetings. Informed consent was then obtained in writing from all individual participants and/or parents/guardians in the case of children. Confidentiality of individuals' information was maintained during and after the study.

4 Results

This PhD project was divided into two main components – one which intended to actively follow up on safety and the other which aimed at determining the efficacy of MDA drugs. Screening of individuals was done before MDA to determine the prevalence of LF and estimate the number of individuals who were antigenemic and microfilaremic to be included in the safety and efficacy analysis. In the screening exercise, blood samples were also drawn for haematological and biochemical assessment as well as PK analysis.

4.1 Prevalence and Correlates of LF Infection and its Morbidity Following MDA

In the prevalence study (*Paper I*) a total of 4115 individuals from 15 villages in Mkinga district were screened for CFA, of which 2045 were males (49.7%) and 1447 (35.2%) children aged 5–14 years. A variation in the age of the study participants was noted in villages with some having the oldest population (median age 32 years), and others the youngest (14 years). The median age of participants was 22.7 years (IQR = 12.5–44.5 years), being significantly higher among females (median=25.6, IQR=12.8–45.0) than males (median=20.0 years, IQR=12.2–43.9), p=0.008.

4.1.1 Prevalence and Correlates of CFA

The overall prevalence of CFA positivity was 5.8% (239/4115), 95%CI: 5.1–6.6), with males having significantly higher rates (8.3%) compared to females (3.3%), p<0.001. A positive trend of increase in the prevalence of CFA positivity with increasing age was also noted (χ^2 = 53.83, p<0.001), with a maximum of 10.2% being among the age group of 65+ years. The pattern of LF infection by age was also similar between females and males. However, after adjusting for the effect of age, the risk (odds ratio) for being positive in males was 2.9–fold higher (95%CI: 2.14–3.85, p<0.001) when compared to females. The prevalence of antigenemia varied significantly between villages ranging from 1.2% to 13.5%. After regression analysis, old age, male sex, missing last MDA, never taking IVM, and living in Kwale, Maramba, or Moa wards were significant correlates of CFA positivity. Maramba A is the hotspot for LF in the Mkinga district.

4.1.2 Prevalence and correlates of microfilaremia

Out of 239 individuals who tested positive for CFA, 28 (11.7%) were lost to followup for the night blood specimen collection for the detection of mf using microscopy. Eleven individuals out of 211 were mf-positive, giving a prevalence of 5.2% among CFA-positive individuals. Microfilaraemia was detected in 4 out of 15 villages. The youngest mf positive child was 11 years old.

4.1.3 Coverage of MDA from the previous round

Epidemiological coverage during MDA measures the proportion of individuals who administered the medications amongst the total population in the implementation unit. WHO recommends the minimum epidemiological coverage for MDA to be considered effective for reducing LF transmission to be at 65% or greater. Coverage of MDA during the last round of distribution (i.e., 2017) was explored in 3,932 individuals from the age of 6 years, of which 2379 responded to have ingested the medications (60.5%). The proportion of individuals who did not take MDA drugs (i.e., 1553 (39.5%)) was slightly higher in males (40.9%) than in females (37.9%), p=0.06.

It was further observed that out of 3,846 individuals, 1339 (34.8%) had never used IVM before with a slightly higher frequency seen in males (36.2%) than in females (33.4%). The prevalence of CFA-positive individuals who did not take MDA drugs in the previous year (8.25%, 134/1625) was significantly higher than those who took (4.18%, 100/2392) ($\chi^2 = 29.15$, p < 0.0001, odds ratio =2.056; 95% CI of OR = 1.5771 to 2.6905). The proportion of individuals who did not take MDA during the last round or never used IVM before was lower in children aged 11–15 years (18.8%) than in adults. There were significant differences in the proportion of individuals who missed MDA in the previous year amongst the various age groups, the highest being in the 25–34 years age group (52.3%) and 65+ (52.3%) p < 0.0001. The trend of use of MDA in the previous year by age group coincided with the CFA positivity, except for the youngest age group. The same pattern of high CFA positivity was also observed in villages with a history of low MDA compliance during the last round.

4.1.4 Clinical manifestations of LF

Classical clinical manifestations of LF which are usually monitored by the NTDCP include scrotal swelling, hydrocele, swelling of arms or legs, lymphoedema, and lymphadenopathy. Scrotal swelling is an enlargement of the scrotal sac or scrotum which houses the testicles. Scrotal enlargement was assessed for 1,988 males, of which 128 (6.4%) had an enlarged scrotum. The rate of scrotal enlargement was increasing with age (χ^2 trend=126.3, p<0.001). Scrotum enlargement was significantly higher among males with positive CFA (14.8%), compared to those with a negative test (7.9%), p=0.006. Hydrocele which is a type of swelling in the scrotum that occurs when fluid collects in the thin sheath surrounding the testicles, was detected in 73/1992 (3.7%) males, which was 57.5% (73/127) of those with an enlarged scrotum. Nonetheless, hydrocele prevalence was not significantly different between those with a positive CFA test (4.8%) against those with a negative test (3.6%), p= 0.42.

Swelling of arms or legs was observed at a lower frequency of 55/4074 (1.35%), and these were mainly in individuals with negative CFA tests (53 cases), although there was a similar pattern with other types of swellings. A variation in the prevalence of swelling within the village of residence was interestingly noticed, albeit the pattern did not mimic the CFA positivity trend, as villages with the highest CFA prevalence were observed to have a lower prevalence of swellings.

Lymphoedema and lymphadenopathy were also observed at a low frequency whereby the prevalence of lymphoedema was 1.2% (50/4059), while lymphadenopathy was 0.32% (13/4065).

4.2 Safety and Tolerability of MDA Drugs Deployed in LF Endemic Communities

In this safety and tolerability study (*Paper II*) a total of 9640 individuals from 24 villages were followed up. The study adopted the CEM method for active surveillance of individuals in their households. Before MDA, socio-demographics, clinical conditions, co-medications, use of traditional and herbal medicines, etc. were recorded. On the day of MDA, individuals were given IA which was administered by CDDs. Of the enrolled individuals, 9288 (96.3%) completed the seven-day safety follow-up. Amongst these 9,288 individuals from whom post-MDA safety data were collected, 4,816 (51.9%) were females.

4.2.1 Incidence of Adverse Events Following MDA

CEM allows for the measurement of incidence rates and minimizes losses to follow-up. The follow-up rate in this study was 96.3%. A total of 352 (3.7%) individuals were lost to follow-up and were not included in the final analysis. Before MDA 1,312 individuals reported their clinical symptoms which were recorded as pre-MDA events for a comparison post-MDA. Any reported post-MDA event was cross-checked and verified to differentiate MDA-associated AEs from pre-existing clinical symptoms.

Out of the 9288 from whom follow-up data were recorded, 442 individuals reported at least one post-MDA AE. The overall incidence of experiencing at least one post-MDA AE was 4.8% (95% CI = 4.3-5.2%). The proportion of individuals who reported one, two, and three or more events was 2.8% (n = 260), 1.3% (n = 122), and 0.6% (n = 60), respectively.

Of the 1,312 individuals who reported any clinical symptom before taking MDA, 111 (8.5%, 95% CI = 4.3-5.2%) reported at least one new symptom after taking MDA (post-MDA AE). Among 7,976 individuals who did not report pre-MDA symptoms, 331 (4.1%, 95% CI = 3.7-4.6%) experienced at least one type of post-MDA AE. Participants with underlying pre-MDA clinical symptoms had a significantly higher risk of experiencing MDA-associated AE (p < 0.001, odds ratio = 2.13: 95% CI = 1.71-

2.67). The incidence of AEs decreased by day during the follow-up period compared to day one (p < 0.001).

4.2.2 Incidence stratified by types of MDA-associated AEs

Generally, more AEs were observed in day one and decreased progressively until day seven. The most common AEs with relatively higher incidence rates were headache (1.23%), drowsiness (1.15%), fever (1.12%), dizziness (1.06%), and abdominal pain (0.88%), while confusion, vomiting, and difficulty in breathing had the lowest rates throughout the follow-up period.

4.2.3 Severity grading of MDA-associated AEs

Most of the reported post-MDA AEs were mild (83.8%) and moderate (15.9%), with few that were severe (0.3%). Only two individuals reported severe drowsiness (0.9%) and dizziness (1%).

4.2.4 Correlates and predictors of AEs following MDA

The incidence rates of AEs were significantly higher among females and those who had chronic illnesses and chronic manifestations of LF (p < 0.001). The incidence of AEs was not statistically different between the different age groups, those who used bed nets, and those who participated in the previous MDA round. Likewise, AEs were not significantly associated with the use of traditional medicines nor the number of IVM tablets administered.

4.3 Surveillance of Haematological and Biochemical Changes Following MDA

This extended safety study (Paper III) extracted data from a cohort of 499 individuals who were screened in the prevalence study (Paper I). In this study group, blood samples were drawn from individuals for laboratory analysis of haematological and biochemical parameters to investigate their changing patterns. Out of 499 individuals followed up, 174 (34.9%) were CFA positive. The distribution of age was significantly different between CFA positive and negative groups (p<0.001). The majority of individuals in both groups were aged between 19 and 59 years. The median age was significantly higher in the CFA positive as compared to the CFA negative group. Overall, the study enrolled more males than females (p=0.017). The median height and weight (IQR) were significantly higher in CFA-positive as compared to CFA-negative individuals (p<0.001). The proportion of individuals in BMI categories differed significantly between CFA groups. Individuals with normal BMI were more in the CFA positive as compared to the CFA negative group (p<0.001). Individuals with experience of taking IA in previous MDA rounds were significantly more in the CFA negative as compared to the CFA positive group (p=0.042).

4.3.1 Comparison of baseline laboratory parameters by CFA status

At baseline before MDA, median values for HCT, eosinophils, serum creatinine, bilirubin direct, and bilirubin total were significantly higher in the CFA-positive group than the CFA-negative group. The median PCT and ALP levels were significantly lower in CFA-positive individuals than in CFA-negative. Other parameters were not statistically different between the two groups.

4.3.2 Change in haematological and biochemical parameters after MDA

Among individuals who were CFA positive, there was a statistically significant increase in the median values of MCH, MCHC, MPV, PLCR, monocytes, AST, and creatinine after MDA (p<0.05). On the flip side, there was a statistically significant decrease in median values of RBC, Hb, HCT, BilD, and BilT following MDA (p<0.05). In the CFA-negative individuals, there was a statistically significant increase in the median MCH, MCHC, MPV, PLCR, Mono, EOs, BilD, and BilT values after MDA. A substantial decline in median RBC, Hb, HCT, and ALT levels following MDA was further observed (p<0.05)

4.3.3 Proportion of abnormalities in haematological and biochemical parameters after MDA

Among individuals who had normal haematological and biochemical parameters at baseline, 13.3%, 30.0%, 43.8%, 43.2%, 20.1%, 25.0%, 8.2%, 25.2%, 4.7%, and 07.7%% had a significant decrease in values of RBC, Hb, HCT, MCH, MCHC, monocytes, eosinophils, creatinine, and ALT respectively. All other parameters had no significant changes from the normal reference range. The univariable and multivariable logistic regression did not reveal any significant predictor of low Hb concentration following MDA.

4.3.4 Association of haematological and biochemical abnormalities with adverse events following MDA

Adverse events following MDA were actively monitored in 403 study participants. Thirty-two individuals (7.9%, 95% CI = 5.3 – 10.6) reported at least one type of MDA-associated AE during a 7-day follow-up. Dizziness, drowsiness, and headache were the most reported AEs, occurring at an incidence rate of 2.5% each. There were no significant differences in the incidence of AEs between CFA-positive (7.9%, 11/139) and CFA-negative individuals (8.0%, 21/264). Correlation of AEs with change in haematological and biochemical parameters after MDA was tested. AEs amongst individuals (n=19) with abnormal haematological and biochemical parameters, followed by fever, dizziness, and nausea.

4.4 Population Pharmacokinetics of IVM Using a Modelling Analysis Approach

In this PK study (*Paper IV*) we aimed to determine the PK profile of IVM only. The initial intention was to measure all PK parameters including Cmax, Tmax, and AUC. However, at the time of analysis, we could not estimate the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ and elimination half-life which are critical PK parameters for determining drug exposure as a measure of bioavailability. We therefore had to adopt a POPPK model using the 4 sampling time points to obtain the intended PK parameters and explore the predictors of IVM disposition.

4.4.1 Population Pharmacokinetics Modelling

The dataset for POPPK modelling consisted of 468 individuals (males n= 279; 59.9%) with a total of 14O4 PK samples collected at O-, 2-, 4-, and 6-hours after a single dose of IVM. Over half of the enrolled individuals (n=248; 53%) received a dose of 12 mg. P values were calculated for each variable to test for any significant differences in baseline characteristics among individuals who received different doses. Enlarged scrotum, lymphadenopathy, lymphoedema, hydrocele, WBCs, and monocytes were variables that did not show statistical differences among individuals in different doses (p>0.05).

Parameters of the model were apparent clearance (CL/F), apparent central volume (Vc/F), apparent inter-compartment clearance (Q/F), apparent peripheral volume (Vp/F), absorption rate constant (Ka), mean transit time (MTT) and number of transit compartments (NN). Allometric scaling was applied to clearance (CL/F) and volume (Vc/F) with fixed allometric exponents. Refitting the model with our data led to a huge decrease in OFV (Δ OFV=-33664). Since we also aimed at testing covariates for bioavailability, we estimated the IIV for bioavailability (IIV-F1) while F1 was fixed to 1. This led to a further decrease in OFV (Δ OFV=-13), and therefore the model with IIV-F1 became our base model.

Covariates versus η plots indicated that only the 3mg dose was a potential covariate on bioavailability (F1). The η distribution plots indicated the right-skewed distribution of IIV-MTT. The addition of the 3 mg dose as a covariate on F1 led to improved model fit (Δ OFV=-10.0), while mixture modelling of the MTT parameter identified two sub-populations and resulted in statistically significant improvement in model fit (Δ OFV=-17).

The RSEs were consistent with the narrow bootstrap CI and indicated that the parameters were estimated with good precision. Dose was the only identified covariate of F1 as the 3mg doses had about 48% higher bioavailability compared to the other higher doses. Based on the GOF plots, the developed model provided an adequate description of the current data. Similarly, the comparison of observed

and model-estimated individual secondary PK parameters indicated that model estimates were in good agreement with the observed data. The model estimated AUCO- ∞ indicated that individuals who received 3 mg doses had comparable exposure to the rest of the study participants who received 6-, 9-, and 12-mg doses.

4.4.2 IVM dosing by height and weight

Based on the current height-based dosing, 6.3% of individuals weighing <30Kg were under-dosed (i.e., received < 150 μ g/Kg) while about 23%, 30%, and 100% of individuals in the weight range of 61–70 kg, 71–80 Kg, and > 80 Kg, respectively, were under-dosed. With the 200 μ g/Kg dose, rounded to the nearest number of whole IVM tablets (i.e., 3 mg per tablet), only individuals weighing <30Kg would be under-dosed; about 17.5% of these would receive <150 μ g/Kg due to rounding to the nearest number of whole tablets. These findings were supported by results from model-based simulations which showed that contrary to weight-based dosing, height-based dosing results in relatively lower AUCO- ∞ for individuals weighing >70Kg compared to those weighing <70Kg.

4.5 Efficacy of MDA Drugs

In the efficacy study (*Paper V*), a cohort of 239 CFA-positive individuals out of 4115 screened, was enrolled. Out of the 11 individuals who were mf positive at baseline, 10 were available for a follow-up test on day 7. Amongst these 10 individuals, 9 (90%) tested negative for mf on day 7 post-MDA. One individual who remained mf positive on day 7 showed a decrease in parasite counts from 27 to 13 microfilariae/mL. The McNemar test indicated a significant change in mf status before and after MDA.

At six-month follow-up, a total of 168 individuals were available for night blood sampling for mf microscopy. Amongst those who were mf-free on day 7, all remained mf-negative at six months post-MDA – including the nine individuals who had cleared mf. Alternatively, the two individuals who tested positive for mf on day 7 remained mf-positive after six months.

Individuals who cleared mf on day 7 had minimal inter-individual variability in drug exposure as measured by Cmax and AUC. The Cmax of IVM ranged between 47.9 and 77.4 ng/mL (CV=19.2%) while AUCO- ∞ and AUCO-6h were 802.3 to 1402.8 ng.h/mL (CV=20.7%) and 149.77 to 276.01 ng.h/mL (CV=19.9%), respectively. The individual who did not clear mf on day 7 had a comparable exposure.

Factors associated with CFA status after 6 months following MDA were determined using Chi-square or Fishers exact tests. Area of residence (ward) was the only significant factor associated with CFA status, whereby residents of

Maramba ward significantly cleared CFA levels (37.5%) compared to other wards (p=0.024). All other factors were not significantly associated with CFA status.

There were no significant differences in the geometric mean of IVM Cmax (p = 0.19) and AUC (p= 0.41) of between CFA-positive and negative individuals at six months of receiving IA. The univariable and multivariable analyses revealed that none of the factors tested were significantly associated with CFA clearance at six months following MDA (p>0.05). Factors included in the multivariable model were based on clinical relevance and previously reported associations.

5 Discussion

Overall, a total of 9,640 individuals were enrolled and followed up for safety evaluation in this PhD project, of which 4,115 were pre-screened for prior CFA status, 499 tested for haematological and biochemical changing patterns, and 468 were assessed for PK variability at pre-dose-and-at 2-, 4-, and 6-hours post-dose. The efficacy of IA was further assessed in 239 individuals by measuring the clearance of microfilaraemia and antigenemia at day 7, and six-months post MDA.

5.1 Prevalence and Correlates of LF Infection and its Morbidity (Paper I)

In the prevalence study (*Paper I*), 4115 individuals from 15 villages in the Mkinga district were screened for CFA status. Mkinga district is one of the highly LF endemic areas in north-eastern Tanzania. The overall intention of this study was to pre-screen individuals before subjecting them to the safety, efficacy, and PK studies. We aimed to identify a cohort of individuals with the disease and those without by measuring antigenemia levels and determining predictors of safety and PK in the follow-up sub-studies.

5.1.1 Prevalence and correlates of infection

In this study, the status of LF infection was investigated and the overall prevalence of antigenemia positivity was 5.8%. The prevalence of microfilaraemia amongst those who tested positive for antigenemia was 5.2%. The prevalence of antigenemia was significantly higher in males (8.3%) than females (3.3%), and positively correlated with increasing age. The observed high prevalence of antigenemia in males as compared to females was in tandem with the results from other studies [22, 24, 36, 137]. Most men in the Mkinga district spend much of their time outdoors until late hours which is the time of mosquito bites. Fishing is also one of the main economic activities for them to earn their living. It is due to these socioeconomic activities that predispose them to late-night mosquito bites and therefore transmission of the disease.

The presence of CFA in blood indicates exposure of an individual to worms and such antigens are expressed after disease transmission. The existence of these antigens in blood also signifies that an individual has acquired infection as filarial worms take time to mature as they develop into adult worms. However, it is not clear for how long antigenemia subsides after the exposure of individuals. Adult worms can live for up to 8 years producing millions of mf that continue to circulate in the blood causing clinical manifestations [14, 30]. The increasing trend of CFA positivity with age signified the role of adult parasites as they mature in infected individuals. The combination of IA used during MDA is effective against the mf (immature larvae stage) but not the matured adult worms. The timing sustained,

and uninterrupted MDA programme is, therefore, crucial to ensure that mf is killed to stop the transmission of the disease.

To compare the prevalence rates in the same district, we evaluated data from the NTD programme. The prevalence of LF was 62.0%, 3.70%, and 6.0% in 2002, 2014 and 2017 respectively. According to this data, there was a sharp decline in the prevalence of LF between 2002 and 2014. The CFA-positivity of 6% which was reported by NTCDP in 2017 is comparable to the overall prevalence of 5.8% observed in our study – a year later.

Since the launching of GPELF in 2000, more than 18 years had elapsed at the time of this prevalence study in 2018. Epidemiological surveys conducted by WHO in different settings have reported that LF is still prevalent in many countries. As of 2018, 51 million people were infected – a 74% decline since the beginning of GPELF [14]. Due to this current status quo, the WHO has recently decided to shift the goal-post and now the GEPLF targets have been shifted to 2030. A strategic blueprint to guide actions to control, eliminate, or eradicate 20 diseases and NTDs including LF over the next decade was published by WHO in 2020 [138]. The blueprint highlights a roadmap to end NTDs by 2030 as part of sustaining development goals. According to this blueprint, drivers of success include continued donation of drugs by pharmaceutical companies, multisectoral collaboration, and continuous innovation in new treatments and/or diagnostics. Additionally, actions that have been suggested by WHO to meet the new targets include securing sufficient resources to enable programme implementation, mainstreaming NTD interventions into national health systems as an integrated part of primary health care, encouraging closer collaboration across all relevant sectors, and pursuing research and development on innovative tools and methods to combat NTDs.

5.1.2 MDA coverage in the previous year

Adequate coverage of the MDA round in an implementation unit is critical for the successful elimination of LF. The WHO recommends an effective coverage of >65% of the targeted population [30]. In our study coverage of MDA in the previous year was measured at 60%. This means about 40% did not take MDA drugs in the previous year (i.e., 2017). The proportion of individuals who did not take MDA drugs was observed to be higher in males than females. Low MDA coverage reduces the impact of MDA on transmission and delays elimination. Missing MDA in the previous year was significantly associated with a high risk of CFA-positivity. Henceforth, low MDA coverage could be one of the contributing factors towards the slow elimination of LF in Tanzania. The proportion of individuals who missed MDA in the previous year was also high in individuals aged

15–34 years and beyond 65 years, indicating that non-compliance to MDA correlates with the observed high infection rates in these age groups.

Mkinga district being one of the highly endemic areas for LF, has experienced persistent infection rates since MDA began in 2002. Several rounds of MDA deploying IA had been staged in this district but to date, the prevalence of infection has not declined beyond the levels where recrudescence is unlikely to occur. The probable reason for this persistence was inherent low coverage and poor perception, knowledge, and attitude toward MDA. Cabral et al. assessed the knowledge, attitudes, and perceptions regarding LF in a study on systematic noncompliance with MDA in north-eastern Brazil [139]. In this study not receiving the drug and fear of side effects were observed as the most important causes of systematic non-compliance to MDA. People without knowledge of the disease and existing programmes to eliminate LF were also significant predictors of low coverage in a study done in Haiti [140]. Other similar studies have also demonstrated a lack of awareness to be associated with non-compliance to MDA [141-144]. Apart from awareness and knowledge, Krentel et. al. in their review of literature, also cited other major factors contributing to non-compliance to MDA including MDA setting, confidence in MDA, fear of AEs vs benefits, prior experience with MDA, recipient's situation and drug distributor [145].

In our study, males had a high tendency of missing MDA, due to their constant absence from their homes during MDA rounds. When CDDs distribute drugs, males are usually not available in their homes and most of them refuse to take such drugs because of misconceptions about their AEs as observed in the cited studies. There is a myth in many districts that once you use these medicines, you might end up impotent and fail to exercise sexual intercourse. This adds up to the low coverage of MDA and therefore continued transmission. It was therefore hypothesized that most men missed the previous round due to poor perception of MDA medicines that they can cause infertility and affect their reproductive capabilities.

MDA is needed to reduce infection in the community to levels below a threshold at which mosquitoes are unable to continue transmitting parasites and new infections are prevented. Pre-Transmission Assessment Survey (pre-TAS) is recommended to be conducted after five effective MDA rounds when the prevalence of infection is less than 1% for mf and 2% for CFA [30]. This should be followed by the Transmission Assessment Survey (TAS). In all these cases, the coverage should be >65% of an implementation unit. TAS measures whether evaluation units have lowered the prevalence to a level where recrudescence is unlikely to occur, and transmission is considered not possible even without MDA [30]. Repeated MDA rounds with adequate coverage are therefore crucial for LF elimination. Non-compliance with MDA represents a serious programmatic hiccup for the LF programme because systematically non-compliant individuals serve as a reservoir for the parasite and thus the recrudescence of infection. The success of the LF control programme depends in large on its ability to achieve and sustain high levels of compliance to MDA.

5.1.3 Morbidity and disease manifestations

The WHO has classified LF as the second most common cause of long-term disability after mental illness [146]. Apart from interrupting transmission through MDA, preventing suffering and disability in those who already have chronic LF manifestations is part of GPELF strategies underpinned in the WHO 2030 target [138]. NTD programme monitors leg or arm swelling (lymphoedema) and scrotal swelling (hydrocele) during morbidity control as the full-blown disease is irreversible. Once such conditions occur to affected individuals what needs to be done is to manage lymphoedema and arrange for surgical interventions in case of hydrocele.

In our study, swelling of arms or legs was observed at a lower frequency of 1.35% (55/4074), and these were mainly in CFA-negative individuals. Hydrocele was at 3.7% (73/1992) of males, which was 57.5% (73/127) of those with an enlarged scrotum. Scrotal enlargement was measured at 6.4%, and the rate of enlargement was increasing with age. The same was significantly higher among males with positive CFA (14.8%), compared to those with a negative test. An important association between filarial infection and inadequate surgical and clinical management of hydrocele was identified as a risk factor for lymph scrotum in a case series study done by Aguiar-Santos [147].

There were reduced hydrocele and lymphoedema rates in the young age group (11–24 years) compared to the older group (\geq 25–65 years). This signified that the reduction of new infections resulted in a lowered progression of infection to chronic pathologies, compared to the findings of previous studies done in the same locality [36, 148]. Small scrotal swellings in the age group of 5–11 years were observed as a sign of sub-clinical hydrocele. The frequencies of hydrocele observed in this study were similar to those reported in other studies [8, 38]. Other studies have also demonstrated that filarial hydrocele is triggered by the death of an adult worm, which produces an inflammatory nodule that occludes the lymphatic vessel [149–151].

Since lymphoedema and hydrocele are the most frequent sequelae observed in endemic communities, the NTD programme should continue to monitor and consider offering services to those suffering from the clinical manifestations taking into account their social-economic status. Furthermore, much as our study focused on one single district, the programme should also contemplate conducting more population-based surveys in other endemic areas of the country to provide more robust and reliable estimates of the burden of filarial morbidity.

5.2 Safety and Tolerability of IA Following MDA (Paper II)

No drug is absolutely safe after being authorized for marketing by National Medicines Regulatory Authorities (NMRAs). Continuous monitoring is mandatory for the entire life circle of the drug in circulation. NMRAs need to set up robust and effective PV systems that can detect, understand, assess, and prevent AEs and consequently ADRs. PV systems are weak in many countries particularly those with limited resources. MDA of IA in many settings has also been conducted without effective monitoring of AEs to be certain of the safety of such drugs. The safety study (**Paper II**) was therefore conducted to actively identify the incidence, timing, type, severity, and associated risk factors of AEs following MDA in the Mkinga district. Clinical symptoms before drug intake were recorded and crosschecked with post-MDA reported events to differentiate treatment-associated AEs from any pre-existing clinical symptoms. The overall cumulative incidence of experiencing at least one type of MDA-associated AE was 4.8%; this being significantly higher among those who had pre-existing clinical conditions (8.5%) than those without (4.1%). Most of the observed AEs were mild (83.8%) and moderate (15.9%), with few severe (0.3%). Most AEs that occurred during the first two days of MDA were transient and resolved progressively to day seven. Headache, drowsiness, fever, dizziness, and stomach pain were the most common AFs.

Observational studies and clinical trials conducted elsewhere had also reported common AEs associated with IVM such as headache, pruritus, muscle pain, cough, dyspnoea, nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, blurred vision, postural hypotension, confusion, skin reactions and oedematous swellings [66, 152, 153]. AEs were also reported by 197 (1.2%) of individuals in a study that compared the frequency of AEs in communities receiving IA and azithromycin to that given IA followed by azithromycin MDA in Ethiopia [154]. In this study, the most reported AEs were headaches, gastrointestinal disturbances, and dizziness.

Furthermore, Campillo *et. al.* [59] conducted a systematic literature search and identified 10 cases of IVM-associated events reported by different authors in their review, including cutaneous reactions [155–159], nephropathy [160], psychiatric disorders [161, 162], hepatic disorders [85], and multiorgan dysfunction syndrome [163]. In this review of Vigibase, Campillo *et. al.* further observed an increased reporting for toxidermias, encephalopathies, and confusional disorders after IVM use in SSA and other parts of the world. IVM is known to cause severe encephalopathies in those infected with loiasis, but this review identified serious

ADRs outside loiasis-endemic regions. Additionally, Twum-Danso presented a summary of reported cases of SAEs following treatment with IVM in oncho MDA through a passive surveillance system [164]. In this review, many SAE cases were reported giving rise to a cumulative incidence of one SAE per 800,000 reported treatments. In this review, approximately 50% of the reported cases were encephalopathic illnesses, of which 94% were reported from Cameroon. Many other studies have detected encephalopathy after administration of IA particularly in areas where Loa loa infection is common [165–171].

We did not systematically measure the incidence of encephalopathy in our study because loiasis is not prevalent in the Mkinga district. Cases of encephalopathy were also not suspected in our study. However, despite that, our focus was mainly on LF endemic communities without loiasis co-endemicity, and since encephalopathy after administration of IVM and ALB has been evident in other countries, it is prudent to be vigilant of the typical presentation of loiasis in Tanzania due to the increase of travels and migration from endemic areas. As of today, no mapping studies have been done in Tanzania to determine the prevalence or spatial orientation of loiasis. The disease is restricted to the equatorial rainforest regions of Central and West Africa [172].

Conversely, our study was large enough and included 9,640 individuals out of 10,000 targeted before in the sample size calculation. Lost to follow-up was only 3.7% (n=352). The large sample size enabled us to detect rare severe AEs, and the seven-day follow-up period allowed us to identify the time-curse as recommended by WHO. The study was powered to identify AEs, and risk factors and determine the incidence rate of occurrence of events in the population. A significantly higher incidence of AEs among patients with chronic LF manifestations than those without was observed. Higher incidence rates of AEs amongst females were as well detected as compared to males. This was attributed to both sex and gender-related factors. Chronic illnesses, in particular hypertension and asthma, were also significant risk factors for AEs. The frequency of AEs including fever, dizziness, stomach pain, diarrhoea, breathing difficulty, vomiting, and confusion was mostly seen in hypertensive patients. An association between venous hypertension and lymphoedema has been seen in several studies conducted elsewhere [173-177]. This association was further reported by Vagas and Ryan to be due to capillary filtration and inflammation [178] which is mostly seen in individuals with chronic LF. Headache, dizziness, loss of appetite, difficulty in breathing, and vomiting were AEs mostly observed in those with asthma. The association of asthma with AEs in LF endemic areas had been reported to be due to Tropical Pulmonary Eosinophilia (TPE). TPE is a pulmonary syndrome that occurs in response to trapped microfilariae within the lung tissue (an exaggerated immune response to the filarial antigens) [179]. It is characterized

by nocturnal cough, dyspnoea, and wheezing with eosinophils playing a pivotal role [179, 180]. Eosinophilia was also frequently reported in individuals using IVM in the review of Vigibase [59]. Many other studies have reported the association between TPE and filariasis [181-189].

Alternatively, we did not find any significant association of AEs with age groups, the use of traditional medicines, or the number of IVM tablets taken in our study. Other risk factors such as kidney disease, diabetes, and TB were also not associated with AEs. The incidence of AEs between mf and CFA positives versus healthy individuals was also not investigated. We similarly did not assess the effects of MDA drugs in pregnancy as pregnant women and children below five years of age were excluded from the study because IA combination is contraindicated in these groups. Pregnant women are excluded based on their last menses [190]. On the flip side, Ndyomugyenyi R *et. al* conducted a study in Uganda and did not observe severe AEs during the second trimester of pregnancy after the administration of IVM, ALB, or a combination of both [191]. Despite this positive finding, investigators recommended long-term follow-up of pregnant women to assess safety in case of inadvertent use of the drugs that can happen in remote areas where behavioural and diagnostic techniques to detect early pregnancy are sometimes missing. As suggested by Gyapong [190], women should be asked to come for their MDA drugs only after they have had some evidence of their menses for that particular month. The NTD programme must therefore be extra vigilant in future MDA campaigns in the event of inadvertent exposure of pregnant women to IA in early pregnancy.

Our study was the first large-scale CEM study to actively investigate the incidence and associated risk factors of AEs following MDA of IA in Tanzania and SSA. The study enabled us to quantify the incidence and timing of each type of AE. It further provided relevant and adequate information on the safety of IA when used during MDA. CEM study design, which was adopted, is likewise key in estimating the incidence rate as compared to the spontaneous reporting system. The feasibility of conducting active safety surveillance in the MDA programme was demonstrated. CEM also proved to be pivotal in improving under-reporting particularly in resource-limited settings. The same can be replicated and adopted by the NTD programme in future MDA programmes. A close collaboration between PHPs and NMRAs is critical in integrating PV during MDA campaigns and in practice. The TMDA as the regulatory authority and NTD programme in Tanzania should continue to collaborate on safety monitoring during future MDA campaigns for timely detection, understanding, joint assessment, and prevention of AEs.

5.3 Surveillance of Haematological and Biochemical Parameters Following MDA (Paper III)

Haematological and biochemical parameters are commonly not measured during MDA. In this project, we investigated changes in these parameters following MDA among individuals residing in LF-endemic areas in Tanzania (*Paper III*). The aim was to identify whether LF infection status influences haematological and biochemical changes following MDA with IA. In this study, the median (IQR) values of laboratory parameters before and after MDA were compared to determine any change after drug intake. The comparison of proportions of individuals with abnormal parameters before and after MDA was further conducted.

The overall findings indicated the occurrence of changes in some laboratory parameters after IA intake. The Wilcoxon Signed Rank test revealed that the median values of the haematological parameters – RBC, Hb, and HCT decreased, while MCH, MCHC, monocyte, and eosinophil levels increased significantly following MDA. Platelet counts, including MPV and PLCR, increased in both CFA-positive and negative groups. Biochemical parameters, including BiIT and BiID, decreased in the CFA-positive individuals and increased in the CFA-negative individuals. AST increased in the CFA-positive group while ALT decreased in the CFA-negative individuals. The McNemar test likewise revealed a significant proportion of individuals with abnormal parameters after drug intake.

5.3.1 Change in haematological parameters after MDA

Blood is widely used in toxicological research including safety studies as an indicator of physiological and pathological changes [192] The haematological parameters – Hb, HCT, RBC, WBC, and haematological indices such as MCV, MCH, and MCHC are commonly examined to assess the toxic stress induced by drugs and other pollutants [192]. Alterations of these parameters are considered as an anaemic condition in humans and animals. The decrease in RBCs, Hb, and HCT content usually reflects the harmful effects of drugs on the carrying capacity of oxygen in the blood. They are commonly used to diagnose anaemia [193]. A potential decline of these parameters demonstrates a potential risk for anaemia among individuals exposed to drugs. The median values of RBC, Hb, and HCT were below the normal baseline range after MDA in a significant number of study participants in our study. The values decreased significantly following IA intake regardless of CFA status.

The logistic regression performed did not reveal any predictor of low Hb concentration in males or females post-MDA. The logistic regression focused on Hb concentration since this is the critical surrogate marker for anaemia. It is known from the literature that females have a higher risk of experiencing low Hb as compared to males. Furthermore, despite that the baseline median Hb was

significantly higher in CFA positive group than in CFA negative, CFA status did not predict low Hb concentration after MDA, signifying that being CFA positive may not affect Hb levels.

Overall, many individuals had values within the reference ranges for MCH and MCHC post-MDA. MCH and MCHC measure the average amount of Hb in one or a group of RBCs. MCH and MCV may be significant in classifying anaemia into microcytic, macrocytic, or normocytic types [194]. Macrocytic anaemia occurs when the bone marrow produces abnormally large RBCs which lack nutrients [195].

Macrocytosis in adults is defined as an RBC mean MCV greater than 100 femtoliter (fL). The two most common forms of macrocytic anaemia are megaloblastic and non-megaloblastic macrocytic anaemias. Megaloblastic anaemia is caused by a deficiency or impaired utilization of vitamin B12 and/or folate, whereas nonmegaloblastic macrocytic anaemia is caused by various diseases such as myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), liver dysfunction, alcoholism, hypothyroidism, certain drugs, or inherited disorders of DNA synthesis [196-199]. Microcytic anaemia is defined as a reduced Hb synthesis associated with RBC MCV less than 80 fL during adulthood [200]. It is the most common form of anaemia, both in adulthood and in childhood. MCV is lower in childhood than in adulthood, and a nutritional iron deficiency may account for the appearance of congenital microcytic anaemia which might occur during or around birth and can be misdiagnosed as an inherited form of microcytic anaemia [201]. Microcytic anaemias are highly heterogeneous, and they may be either acquired (mostly due to iron deficiency) or inherited [202]. The median values of MCH and MCHC increased significantly following MDA in our study. However, they were within the normal clinical range post-MDA. In this respect, most individuals did not have macro or microcytosis.

On the other hand, changes in WBCs and its indices (lymphocytes, monocytes, neutrophils, and eosinophils) are considered as an excellent indicator for stress response. WBCs are mainly involved in the regulation of immunological defence functions against both foreign bodies and infectious diseases in humans [203]. The lymphocyte is the most dominant differential leukocyte and responsible for many functions of the immune system [203]. WBCs reduction may indicate immune suppression while increasing values indicate a response to stress or infection. The decrease of WBCs and lymphocytes might be due to the malfunctioning of the hematopoietic system [203].

In our study, there was no statistically significant change in the median values of WBCs before and after 7 days of receiving MDA. Alternatively, the median values for monocytes in the CFA-positive and negative groups increased significantly following MDA. A significant proportion of individuals was further observed to have

abnormal values from the reference range. A significant increase in median values for monocytes in COVID-19 patients treated with IVM was reported previously [204]. This was in tandem with what we observed after IA intake in our study.

IVM has also been reported to be associated with eosinophilia in the review of Vigibase. In our study, median levels of eosinophils increased in CFA-negative individuals. A significant proportion of individuals had as well shown abnormal values from the reference range. Eosinophilia in patients with filariasis had also been reported to be caused by higher levels of WBCs in blood accompanied by high levels of immunoglobulin E (IgE) and antibodies against mf [181, 182, 205].

Additionally, our study also measured the platelet counts to investigate any associated thromboembolic disorders after IA intake post-MDA. Platelet markers embrace PDW, MPV, PLCR, and PCT. The PDW increases during platelet depletion when turnover is accelerated and shares a similar pattern of behaviour to MPV during acute severe infections. PLCR identifies the largest-sized fraction of platelets. An increase in PLCR usually signifies that there is an increase in new platelets (which are larger). PCT is the plateletcrit that is influenced by the number and size of platelets and has a positive relationship with the platelet count [206]. These platelet markers are surrogates for thromboembolic and bleeding disorders [207]. In our study, no significant change in PDW and PCT was observed except for MPV and PLCR which increased in both groups following MDA. However, following the McNemar test, a great proportion of individuals had significant PLT abnormality. We therefore recommended that further studies be conducted to assess the potential association of IA use with changes in platelet counts and consequently thromboembolic or bleeding disorders.

5.3.2 Change in biochemical parameters following MDA

Biochemical parameters including renal and liver function tests were monitored following MDA. Our findings revealed a change in median values for BilD and BilT, which remarkably decreased in the CFA-positive and increased in the CFA-negative groups, respectively. Similarly, median values of AST increased in the CFA-positive individuals while those for ALT decreased in the CFA-negative group. A significant proportion of individuals with abnormal AST levels was again noted following MDA. Even further, the median values of creatinine increased in the CFA-positive group and many individuals had values lower than the reference range.

Principally, high ALT levels denote liver cell damage when the liver is injured. Higher than normal creatinine or bilirubin levels also indicate different types of kidney, liver or bile duct disorders. In clinical practice, the elevation of AST is also a sign of liver damage or damage to other organs including the heart, kidney, or skeletal
muscles. Our findings suggested that IA may be associated with biochemical changes, and we recommended further studies to explore this observation.

A single case of apparent liver injury was reported after IVM use in a study done in Cameroon. In this case, IVM was found to be associated with a low rate of serum ALT elevations. The onset of injury occurred one month after a single dose and was characterized by a hepatocellular pattern of serum enzyme elevations without jaundice [85]. Nonetheless, serum bilirubin and ALP levels were normal in this study.

Oscanoa et. al. reviewed reports of serious hepatic disorders associated with the use of IVM for COVID-19 patients in the Vigibase. In their review, they discovered that 6 individuals out of 25 who reported serious ADRs after IVM use, experienced hepatic disorders (i.e., hepatitis, hepatocellular injury, cholestasis, increased ALT and/or ASP levels, and other liver abnormalities) [208]. Nonetheless, a study done by (Kanjo Shiynsa F, 2021) and (Ozer et al., 2022) revealed no significant association between elevated levels of ALT and AST after repeated use of IVM in patients with Oncho and COVID-19 [86, 209]. However, the same study by Kanjo Shiynsa F, 2021 also reported significant changes in serum creatinine and blood urea levels. Alternatively, a systematic PV review done by Campillo et. al. reported no serious liver damage associated with IVM use in SSA [59].

Our results denoted changes in haematological and biochemical parameters after IA intake and I recommend more studies to be done to investigate this effect further. The pharmacovigilance system must be up to the task of detecting any abnormalities of the liver or kidneys as these vital organs have the potential risk of harmful and detrimental effects to human beings once they are affected.

5.4 Pharmacokinetics Analysis of IVM Following MDA (Paper IV)

In **Paper IV** we conducted a PK study to investigate the disposition of IVM alone in a population at risk of LF in Mkinga district. This was done because the disposition kinetics of IVM is an important determinant of its safety as well as efficacy. Our further literature search also revealed that data regarding the PK of IVM in humans are scarce as most studies were conducted in animals and a low number of healthy adults or adults infected with *Onchocerca volvulus* or *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria [62, 92–96]. Apart from the disposition of IVM we also identified predictors of its PK following MDA.

5.4.1 Initial PK study

In the initial PK study, 468 individuals residing in Mkinga district were sampled and their blood drawn for PK analysis. The initial intention was to measure all PK parameters including Cmax, Tmax and AUC. Considering the invasive nature of blood sampling including taking into account the elimination half-life of IVM which ranges between 25 and 80 hours [98, 99, 103], it was decided to compute a POPPK model to estimate the AUC_{0-∞} and elimination half-life and measure bioavailability of the drug. The model was therefore searched, validated, and adopted to obtain the intended PK parameters and explore the predictors of IVM disposition using 4 sampling time points (i.e., at 0-, 2-, 4-, and 6-hours).

5.4.2 POPPK analysis

The POPPK analysis was developed according to a two-compartment model, firstorder absorption and linear disposition kinetics as previously reported [11]. In model simulations, the predictability of the model can be evaluated by comparing the model prediction values with the observed ones not used in the construction of the model. The developed POPPK model provided a good description of IVM observed data. The goodness-of-fit criteria showed evidence that the final model was consistent with the observed data and that no bias was recorded. The weighted residuals were homogenous and randomly distributed. Both fixedeffects and random-effects of the final model reflected the true observed data. The predictive criteria indicated that less than 5% of the data were located outside the 5th to 95th quantile range suggesting that the model accurately described the central tendency and the variability of the data. The comparable observed and model-estimated secondary PK parameters further supported the good agreement between the modelled and observed data.

5.4.2.1 PK parameters measurement

The observed and model-simulated AUC_{0-*} and Cmax were comparable for each dose strata. An overall decreasing trend in AUC_{0-∞} but an increasing trend in Cmax from lower doses (3mg) to higher doses (12mg) was observed when comparing the systemic bioavailability. The estimated mean AUC_{0-w} was relatively higher than that reported in the previous study [111]. Moderate to heavy W. bancrofti infection did not affect PK parameters for IVM, DEC, or ALB following a single coadministered dose of these drugs compared to uninfected individuals [210]. In this study, there was no difference in $AUC_{0-\infty}$ or Cmax between LF-infected and uninfected individuals (P>0.05 for all comparisons). The study evaluated the PK, safety, and efficacy of triple-drug therapy in people with and without Wuchereria bancrofti infection in West Africa. A mean Tmax of 4 hours both in observed and model-simulated data in our study was consistent with previous studies [111]. The apparent volume of distribution was higher in our study as compared to that of Duthaler et al [111]. However, the values of CL/F were the same. A longer elimination half-life was also observed in our study which was higher in individuals who received lower doses than those who were on higher doses. Nonetheless, the halflife was within the range reported in other studies [98, 99, 103].

5.4.2.2 Predictors of IVM PK

Since IVM is highly lipophilic with high membrane permeability [104] and because its plasma exposure depends on the BMI of an individual [97], we tested various parameters in our model to identify predictors of its disposition. This was also possible as the non-linear mixed-effects model methodology used in POPPK studies allows for identifying and quantifying the effect of multiple factors (i.e. covariates) to further explain the variability in drug exposure and optimization of drug therapy [211-214]. In our study, weight and dose were identified as significant predictors of IVM PK amongst other parameters investigated. The assessment of the current height-based dosing revealed significant under-dosing of some individuals weighing <30kg, 61-70kg, 71-80kg, or >80kg. Moreover, height-based dosing resulted in relatively lower AUC_{0-∞} for individuals weighing >70kg compared to those weighing <70kg. However, only individuals weighing <30 kg were underdosed when the dose was calculated based on weight (i.e., 200 μ g/kg) and whole tablets rounded to the nearest number (3 mg per tablet).

A study conducted by Goss et. al. also reported that height-based dosing of IVM resulted in 27% of individuals receiving treatment doses below those recommended by weight dosing [43]. Significant influence of body weight on IVM kinetics was also observed in our study which was congruent to what had been reported before in other studies [111]. A recent study done by Alshehri *et al.* in Ivory Coast showed a linear PK behaviour of IVM amongst the simulated dosing groups with similar drug exposure based on sex. There was likewise a higher drug exposure with the 18 mg fixed-dose regimen of IVM than with the dose based on body weight at 200 μ g/kg; despite that the increase in drug exposure was relatively small. Sex was a significant covariate on the peripheral volume of distribution in this study (Vp/F, 53% lower in men than in women) [215].

Shu and Okonkwo studied the use of height, physical appearance, and mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC) for calculating the dose of IVM when used for Oncho in Nigeria. Of the three methods compared, the MUAC-based method was found to be more convenient and corresponded closely to the dosing of IVM by weight. An adaptation to this method was advocated [216]. Alexander *et. al.* proposed further research on both height and physical appearance methods be done in different settings and populations to identify which one should become the method of choice during Oncho MDA [44]. All these covariates other than weight and dose were not significant predictors of IVM kinetics in our study. As the MDA programme uses height poles when dosing individuals, and since this has proven to under-dose individuals in different weight bands, we recommended in our study the use of weighing scales for precise estimation of the number of tablets and therefore weight-based dosing of IVM during MDA. Using POPPK modelling, we identified a dosing strategy for IVM which can be adapted by the NTD programme in future MDA campaigns. The correct dosing will lead to intended drug exposure and consequently reduce the transmission of LF in populations at risk.

5.4.2.3 Genetic polymorphisms and their influence on IVM kinetics

Our study investigated the possibility of whether genetic polymorphisms might influence the variability in IVM drug exposure. IVM is a substrate for Cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes and multidrug resistance (MDR1) genes, and its PK could be impacted by polymorphisms associated with these genes [33, 104, 217]. Genetic variations in metabolizing enzymes and a transporter (ABCB1) had no significant influence on IVM PK when added to our model.

5.5 Efficacy of IA in Suppressing Transmission of LF (Paper V)

The efficacy of IA can be confirmed through the microfilaricidal effect of these drugs. Previous studies have observed that IA can clear mf in blood following MDA. However, due to the development of drug resistance, the likelihood of recrudescence, variations in the intensity of infection, genetic factors, and parasite clearance rates, ongoing research is recommended to further document the efficacy of drugs in different settings. A literature search indicates that IA had been studied before to determine its effect on clearing mf in blood. Many years have passed and since the disease is still endemic in affected communities, further studies are warranted to continue to prove the efficacy of such MDA drugs. We therefore conducted an efficacy study to establish the mf clearance rate soon after MDA and six months later (**Paper V**).

This study investigated the efficacy of IA after MDA in endemic communities of rural Tanzania. CFA and mf status levels in individuals were measured before MDA, seven days after, and six months later. Our overall findings indicated that IA administered as preventive chemotherapy effectively clears microfilaremia (90%) from the blood within seven days without rebound after six months. Nevertheless, IA is less effective (12.6%) in clearing circulating filarial antigenemia six months post-MDA.

The findings of our study were in tandem with results reported from other studies conducted elsewhere [119–125, 218–222]. In our same study, drug exposure levels were determined using PK parameters to include Cmax and AUC. Such parameters were deduced from our previous study for IVM (**Paper IV**). The intention was to correlate IVM exposure with mf and CFA clearance. Generally, no significant correlation of variability in IVM plasma exposure with microfilariae and CFA clearance was observed. The minimum inter–individual variability as measured by CV was at ≤20%.

On the other hand, CFA clearance was remarkably low (12.6%) after six months post-MDA. From this observation, it was evident that IA has less effect on CFA clearance over time. The levels of antigenemia did not decline after six months of follow-up.

It can be postulated that the persistence of adult worms in the lymphatics for a long time, explains the current prevalence status (**Paper I**) and consequently the transmission of the disease in endemic communities. Since when MDA was introduced in Tanzania, still, the prevalence of infection has not gone down beyond the levels where recrudescence is unlikely to occur. More efforts are needed to eliminate the disease. And in this case, repeated MDA rounds are critical and should continue to interrupt disease transmission in endemic regions.

Combinations containing DEC should be sought as the drug can kill adult worms. Such combinations had shown superior efficacy in sustaining clearance of mf and will have large impact on LF [70, 223–226]. Effective MDA coverage with DEC containing regimens could accelerate the elimination of LF as a public health problem. The only challenge is that DEC-containing regimens are contraindicated in areas where LF is co-endemic with oncho and loiasis [5, 41]. The use of DEC in such areas has proven to be associated with the Mazzotti reaction which is life-threatening and fatal. Considering the benefits, it is therefore recommended that the NTD programme should re-map the co-endemicity of LF and Oncho to allow for DEC to be introduced in Tanzania.

6 Conclusions

The overall findings of the project can be summarized as follows:

- The prevalence of antigenemia positivity was 5.8% and that for microfilaraemia amongst those who tested positive for antigenemia was 5.2%. Due to this high prevalence, recrudescence is likely to occur and therefore Pre-TAS and subsequent TAS cannot be initiated in the studied district.
- Coverage of MDA in the previous year was measured at 60%. This means about 40% did not take MDA drugs in the previous year (i.e., 2017). Missing MDA was also significantly associated with a high risk of CFA-positivity. Low MDA coverage reduces the impact of MDA on transmission and delay in reaching the elimination targets.
- Two at-risk age groups (25–34 years and 65+ years old) who mostly missed MDA in the previous year had the highest infection rate. These age groups may serve as reservoirs of infection for continued transmission, hence the need for targeted intensive control measures.
- Non-compliance with MDA represents a serious programmatic challenge for the LF programme because systematically non-compliant individuals serve as a reservoir for the parasite and thus recrudescence of infection.
- Swelling of arms or legs was observed at a lower frequency and these were mainly in individuals with negative CFA tests. There were reduced hydrocele and lymphoedema rates in the young age group compared to the older group. Since lymphoedema and hydrocele are the most frequent sequelae observed in endemic communities, the NTD programme should continue monitoring and offering services to those suffering from the clinical manifestations of LF considering their social-economic status.
- IA combination preventive chemotherapy is generally safe and tolerable. Treatment-associated AEs are mild-to-moderate and transient, resolving within a week of MDA. Most AEs that occurred during the first two days of MDA were transient and resolved progressively to day seven. Headache, drowsiness, fever, dizziness, and stomach pain were the most common AEs. Risk factors that can predict the safety of IA include female sex, having pre-MDA clinical symptoms, chronic illnesses, in particular hypertension or asthma, and chronic manifestations of LF.
- CEM study design is pivotal in increasing the number of AE reports and the same should be adopted in future MDA campaigns and other safety monitoring programmes.

- Haematological and biochemical changes may occur following MDA with IA. The observed abnormalities need further scrutiny to ascertain the safety of MDA drugs in future campaigns.
- A POPPK model can be used to describe IVM disposition kinetics in a large population exposed to MDA. The model can also be used in future monitoring of MDA programmes.
- As the MDA programme uses height poles when dosing individuals, and since this has proven to under-dose individuals in different weight bands, the use of weighing scales for precise estimation of the number of tablets and therefore weight-based dosing of IVM during MDA is recommended.
- IA combination chemotherapy is effective in clearing mf in blood following MDA. However, CFA clearance was low as levels did not significantly decline six months post-MDA. Furthermore, there was no significant correlation of variability in IVM plasma exposure with mf and CFA clearance. A minimum inter-individual variability as measured by CV was observed.
- Persistence of adult worms in the lymphatics for a long time, explains the current prevalence status of LF in the studied district. Studies need to be done to re-map the co-endemicity of LF and Oncho to allow for DEC to be introduced in Tanzania.

7 Points of Perspective

Points of perspective that need to be considered by policymakers to include the NTDCP, National Regulatory Authorities (NRAs), and others are summarized below:

- The NTDCP needs to strengthen control measures to reduce the prevalence of the disease in the country. Despite that levels of CFA positivity have gone down quite considerably, but they are still above the threshold recommended by WHO for pre-TAS and TAS.
- The low MDA coverage in the district studied as compared to WHO recommendations of 65% coverage in an implementation unit, needs to be investigated and deliberate actions taken to change this status quo. The finding of infection hotspots with signs of ongoing transmission, due to non-adherence to MDA, calls for targeted intensive control measures. This was only one district that was studied and in case many other districts were studied, the situation could have been different. Consented efforts and measures to include continuous advocacy and education of communities are critical to entice individuals to take part in future MDA campaigns to increase coverage.
- The high-risk group for mosquito exposure (i.e., those with 25–34 years and 65+ old), should be taken into account in future MDA campaigns.
- The WHO GPELF target of eliminating LF as a public health problem by 2020 has not been attained. It is understood that a new target of 2030 has been set by WHO. The NTDCP must work hard together with other partners to ensure that this revised target is attained.
- Pharmacovigilance needs to be integrated into public health programmes. Since MDA drugs are distributed to all at-risk populations without a prior diagnosis, NRAs must work in close collaboration with NTDCPs to collect data on the safety of medicines deployed during MDA. This will increase reporting rates and help to detect new safety signals with the overall intention of protecting public health.
- Safety follow-up of individuals with underlying clinical conditions during MDA needs to be considered particularly in those over 65 years of age. This should also take into account the monitoring of haematological and biochemical surrogate markers after drug use.
- The effect of IA on haematological and biochemical markers needs to be further investigated in future studies.
- POPPK modelling can be applied to monitor drug disposition kinetics in future MDA programmes.

- Weight-based scaling should be used whenever possible during MDA rather than height-based measurements to allow for precise estimation of body weight and correct dosing of individuals.
- Since it is not clear for how long antigenemia subsides, more studies need to be done to determine the duration of CFA clearance post six months of MDA.
- Re-mapping of LF and Oncho co-endemicity is recommended to allow for DEC to be introduced in Tanzania as the drug has an effect on adult worms which are responsible for the persistence of LF infection.

8 Acknowledgements

The pursuit of my PhD programme was a long journey and a rollercoaster. The process began back in 2018 and it has taken around 6 years to complete. In this process, I have learned a lot and met so many individuals whom it is worth to thank and acknowledge them. Let me begin by thanking my Permanent Secretaries in the Ministry of Health in Tanzania for permitting me to undertake my studies. Considering my position as the Director of Medicines and Cosmetics at the then Tanzania Food and Drugs Authority (TFDA) and subsequent appointment as the Director General of the Tanzania Medicines and Medical Devices Authority (TMDA), it was not an easy gesture to leave office to attend courses at Karolinska Institutet in Sweden. I had to request permission quite often and I'm grateful that I was granted without hesitation.

This PhD programme was funded by a grant from the European Union's Framework for Research and Innovation Horizon 2020 through the European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership Association (EDCTP2) under the PROFORMA project. Together with EDCTP, the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA) also supported my project as part of the funding consortium. I would truly like to thank both EDCTP and SIDA for funding my studies.

Any PhD project needs to be supervised and, on this note, I would like to acknowledge the supervisory role and support that was extended to me by my Principal Supervisor – **Professor Eleni Aklillu** of Karolinska Institutet (KI). Professor Eleni thank you for the scientific guidance and the way you had been interacting with me and your push towards my success. Your supervision skills are exemplary and it was a notable experience for me. I recall the time when data was missing and, the way you reacted with frequent Zoom calls to be certain that everything was in order. Your regular phone calls during the COVID-19 pandemic when I was not in Sweden are likewise worthy to reckon. I have also learned a lot from the way you coordinated our PROFORMA project with your smiling face and charm all the time. You will remain in my memories for the rest of my life.

My co-supervisors – **Professor Omary Minzi and Professor Appolinary Kamuhabwa** of MUHAS, Tanzania, I owe you gratitude of higher proportions. As our project passed through a difficult time of enduring the COVID-19 pandemic, you were always with me. Your guidance and mentoring was a mouth-watering experience. Your support during field work including direction on sample collection and management is another thing I won't forget. Your super-fast response when I needed your urgency is likewise another attribute to be cemented onto my mind. I will forever cherish our relationship and the same will last for a long time.

Employees working at the National Institute for Medical Research – Tanga Center particularly **Professor John Lusingu (Center Director)**, **Dr. Bruno Mmbando**, **Dr. Misago Seth**, **Dr. Edwin Liheluka**, **Dr. Williams H. Makunde**, **Ms. Celine Mandara**, **Mr. Rashid Madebe** and **Mr. Gineson Nkya** – there are no enough words to express what you had done to me during this journey. I thank you all for your participation from the planning stage to community sensitization activities, data collection, and laboratory investigations. You spared your time and energy to assist me during sample collection at midnight in very remote areas. This will glue into my mind for good. I say thank you so very much.

The Management and staff working at NIMR – Mwanza particularly **Dr. Safari Kinung'hi**, I thank you and your team for assisting us in keeping the samples at your laboratory. The use of your –70°C and –80°C refrigerators helped preserve our samples at the required temperatures which resulted in obtaining credible results during analysis. The samples remained intact during the entire storage period and for this, I reaffirm my appreciation to you all.

The staff of the Neglected Tropical Diseases Control Programme, specifically **Dr. Upendo Mwingira, who was the Programme Manager at the time, Dr. Andreas Nshalla, Ms. Cecilia Uiso, Mr. Oscar Kaitaba**, and **Mr. Frank Komakoma** – I'm grateful to you for providing logistical support including advising me on areas to be targeted for the study. You assisted quite tremendously on the epidemiology of LF in the study area including sharing critical data needed for the study. I once again acknowledge your contribution to my success. On the flip side, I would also like to thank the NTD Programme – Kenya Office for donating their FTS kits free of charge which were used for testing samples collected from study participants.

The regional and district authority officials of the Tanga region, including village leaders and the NTD Coordinator of Mkinga district, **Mr. Martin Daffa** thank you for your support including taking part in community sensitization programmes and granting permission to collect data in the study areas.

All school teachers of the Mkinga district who took center stage during the safety study – I thank you all for your enthusiasm and vigor which enabled our study to be successful. I recall your active engagement and motivation during the training session and the way you were involved in the house-to-house visits. Your future ahead is bright and keep up the good work for the sake of our country.

My fellow TMDA staff namely Ms. Kissa Mwamwitwa, Dr. Alex Nkayamba, Mr. Gerald Sambu, and Mr. Muhammad Abdulkadir – words cannot articulate my profound appreciation for what you have done for me. Thank you, Kissa for being up-front including assuming leadership roles during project implementation, particularly when I was pre-occupied with hectic office duties. Thank you Alex for your active role including responding to all queries and challenges that originated

during project implementation. Thank you, Gerald and Muhammad, for your assistance during laboratory work in Mwanza. Without you, it could have been an uphill task to complete all the cycles in the laboratory for the PK samples analysis.

My fellow research team members – **Dr. Rajabu Hussein Mnkugwe, Dr. Eulambius Mathias Mlugu, Dr. Eliford Ngaimisi,** and **Mr. Peter Kunambi** – your involvement in my PhD project was timely and is likewise indebted. I thank you all for your contribution when we were drafting the PK and biological parameters study manuscripts. Your knowledge and input were pivotal, and quite significant and assisted immensely in the publication of our papers. Special thanks to Dr. Ngaimisi for your assistance in modelling the population PK data.

Mr. Nigus Fikire Telele of KI, Sweden – I thank you for assisting me in PG data analysis embracing the laboratory work that you were engaged with. You have a very good and loyal heart. I will always remember you.

Staff at the Department of Laboratory Medicine, KI – **Ms. Ann Mellquist** and **Yvonne Elliman** – thank you for your administrative assistance. Ann, I appreciate your assistance in compiling study activity and source of income plans at each seasonal interval, and Yvonne for your help in resetting my individual KI log-in passwords every time they expired.

Staff at the Department of Global Public Health, KI, and in particular **Ms. Veronique Henriksson** – thank you for your secretarial assistance despite the short stint we have been interacting together. This is because my principal supervisor decided to switch from the Department of Laboratory Medicine to the Department of Global Public Health.

My fellow PhD students – Mr. Joseph Kabatende, Ms. Tigist Dires Ghebreyesus, Ms. Christabel Khaemba, and Ms. Abbie Barry – will always be on my mind. We have been together throughout this process and your support and encouragement especially during the COVID-19 pandemic and at the time when we were down will always stick with me. I recall when we were playing cards at Flemingsberg flats during freezing temperatures in Stockholm. The same helped to ease homesickness and brought a sense of togetherness.

Last but not least, let me now thank my family including my father – **Dr. Bennett Fimbo** for your support and encouragement to me to pursue this PhD programme. You wanted badly to see me graduate and I believe I will make you proud. I'm also grateful to my late **mum (Aziza Fimbo)** for her support and motherhood when I was attending my studies. May the almighty god rest your soul in eternal peace in heaven. I will always remember you.

Finally, I owe my gratitude to my wife (**Dr. Mwendwa Eunice Mwenesi**) and our three sons – **Jonathan, Gerald, and Noel** for bearing with me and being patient

and resilient when I was pursuing my studies. I reckon that it was difficult for you when I was away for studies for long periods. With what I have achieved, the zeal and perseverance of my wife in taking care of kids and family matters has proven to be worthwhile. I say thank you so very much.

9 References

 WHO. Working to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases: first WHO report on neglected tropical diseases. 2010; Available from:

https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/44440/9789241564090_en g.pdf?sequence=1.

- Mackey, T.K., et al., Emerging and reemerging neglected tropical diseases: a review of key characteristics, risk factors, and the policy and innovation environment. Clin Microbiol Rev, 2014. 27(4): p. 949–79.
- Pfarr, K.M., et al., Filariasis and lymphoedema. Parasite Immunol, 2009.
 31(11): p. 664-72.
- 4. CDC. Lymphatic Filariasis-Epidemiology and risk factors 2009; Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/parasites/lymphaticfilariasis/epi.html</u>.
- 5. WHO. Guideline Alternative mass drug administration regimens to eliminate lymphatic filariasis. 2017 Nov [cited 2023 28].
- 6. Álvarez-Hernández, D.A., et al., Overcoming the global burden of neglected tropical diseases. Ther Adv Infect Dis, 2020. **7**: p. 2049936120966449.
- Hotez, P.J., et al., The global burden of disease study 2010: interpretation and implications for the neglected tropical diseases. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2014. 8(7): p. e2865.
- Hotez, P.J. and A. Kamath, Neglected Tropical Diseases in Sub-Saharan Africa: Review of Their Prevalence, Distribution, and Disease Burden. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2009. 3(8): p. e412.
- 9. Herricks, J.R., et al., The global burden of disease study 2013: What does it mean for the NTDs? PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2017. **11**(8): p. e0005424.
- Fimbo, A.M., et al., Prevalence and Correlates of Lymphatic Filariasis Infection and Its Morbidity Following Mass Ivermectin and Albendazole Administration in Mkinga District, North-Eastern Tanzania. J Clin Med, 2020. 9(5).
- Ichimori, K., et al., Global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis: the processes underlying programme success. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2014. 8(12): p. e3328.
- 12. Cano, J., et al., Identifying co-endemic areas for major filarial infections in sub-Saharan Africa: seeking synergies and preventing severe adverse

events during mass drug administration campaigns. Parasites & Vectors, 2018. **11**(1): p. 70.

- WHO. Global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis: progress report, 2018. 2019 [cited 2023 Nov 29]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-wer9441-457-472</u>.
- 14. WHO. Lymphatic Filariasis: Key facts. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 29]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/lymphatic-</u><u>filariasis</u>.
- 15. Shenoy, R.K., Clinical and pathological aspects of filarial lymphedema and its management. Korean J Parasitol, 2008. **46**(3): p. 119–25.
- 16. Nutman, T.B., ed. Lymphatic Filariasis, Tropical Medicine, Science and Practice. 2000, Imperial College Press, London, UK. 107–115.
- 17. Taylor, M.J., A. Hoerauf, and M. Bockarie, Lymphatic filariasis and onchocerciasis. Lancet, 2010. **376**(9747): p. 1175–85.
- Addiss, D.G. and M.A. Brady, Morbidity management in the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis: a review of the scientific literature. Filaria J, 2007. 6: p. 2.
- WHO. Training in monitoring and epidemiological assessment of mass drug administration for eliminating lymphatic filariasis. Learners' guide.
 2013 [cited 2023 Nov 29]; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241505451.
- 20. WHO. Lymphatic filariasis: Progress report 2000–2009 and strategic plan 2010–2020. 2010 [cited 2023 Nov 29]; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241500722.
- 21. Ottesen, E.A., The global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis. Trop Med Int Health, 2000. **5**(9): p. 591–4.
- 22. Simonsen, P.E., et al., Lymphatic filariasis control in Tanzania: effect of six rounds of mass drug administration with ivermectin and albendazole on infection and transmission. BMC Infectious Diseases, 2013. **13**(1): p. 335.
- Kisoka, W.J., et al., Community Members' Perceptions Of Mass Drug Administration For Control Of Lymphatic Filariasis In Rural And Urban Tanzania. J Biosoc Sci, 2016. 48(1): p. 94-112.
- 24. Simonsen, P.E., et al., Bancroftian filariasis infection, disease, and specific antibody response patterns in a high and a low endemicity community in East Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2002. **66**(5): p. 550–9.

- 25. Rwegoshora, R.T., et al., Bancroftian filariasis: patterns of vector abundance and transmission in two East African communities with different levels of endemicity. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 2005. **99**(3): p. 253–65.
- Duker, A.A. and E.V.S. Kwarteng, Lymphatic filariasis: a snapshot of a neglected tropical disease. International Journal Of Community Medicine And Public Health, 2021. 8(7): p. 3611–3617.
- 27. Amanyi-Enegela, J.A., et al., Assessment of the progress toward elimination of lymphatic filariasis in the Federal Capital Territory- Abuja, Nigeria. Frontiers in Tropical Diseases, 2022. **3**.
- Hoerauf, A., et al., Filariasis in Africa--treatment challenges and prospects. Clin Microbiol Infect, 2011. 17(7): p. 977-85.
- Ridley, J.W., ed. Parasitology for Medical and Clinical Laboratory Professionals (Medical Lab Technician Solutions to Enhance Your Courses. First edition ed. 2012: Clifton Park, NY, USA.
- WHO. Lymphatic filariasis: monitoring and epidemiological assessment of mass drug administration. 2011 [cited 2023 June 13]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241501484</u>.
- 31. CDC. Lymphatic filariasis. 2019 [cited 2023 Nov 15]; Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/dpdx/lymphaticfilariasis/index.html.
- Chakraborty, S., et al., Lymphatic filariasis: perspectives on lymphatic remodeling and contractile dysfunction in filarial disease pathogenesis. Microcirculation, 2013. 20(5): p. 349-64.
- Rendic, S.P., Metabolism, and interactions of Ivermectin with human cytochrome P450 enzymes and drug transporters, possible adverse and toxic effects. Arch Toxicol, 2021. 95(5): p. 1535–1546.
- Library, S.P. Éléphantiasis Images. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 20]; Available from: <u>https://www.sciencephoto.fr/images/%C3%A9I%C3%A9phantiasis</u>.
- Chesnais, C.B., et al., Measurement of Circulating Filarial Antigen Levels in Human Blood with a Point-of-Care Test Strip and a Portable Spectrodensitometer. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2016. 94(6): p. 1324–1329.
- Simonsen, P.E., et al., Monitoring lymphatic filariasis control in Tanzania: effect of repeated mass drug administration on circulating filarial antigen prevalence in young schoolchildren. Int Health, 2011. 3(3): p. 182–7.
- Mwele Ntuli Malecela, W.L., Upendo Mwingira, Esther Mwakitalu, Christine Makene, Conrad Kabali, Charles Mackenzie, Eliminating LF: a progress report from Tanzania. J Lymphoed, 2009. 4(1): p. 10–12.

- Mshana, H.J., et al., Current Epidemiological Assessment of Bancroftian Filariasis in Tanga Region, Northeastern Tanzania. J Trop Med, 2016. 2016: p. 7408187.
- Simonsen, P.E., et al., Lymphatic filariasis control in Tanga Region, Tanzania: status after eight rounds of mass drug administration. Parasites & Vectors, 2014. 7(1): p. 507.
- 40. PJ, H., The Neglected Tropical Diseases And The Neglected Infections Of Poverty: Overview Of Their Common Features, Global Disease Burden And Distribution, New Control Tools, And Prospects For Disease Elimination. In: Institute Of Medicine (Us) Forum on Microbial Threats. The Causes and Impacts of Neglected Tropical and Zoonotic Diseases: Opportunities for Integrated Intervention Strategies. Washington (DC). 2011: National Academies Press (US).
- Thomsen, E.K., et al., Efficacy, Safety, and Pharmacokinetics of Coadministered Diethylcarbamazine, Albendazole, and Ivermectin for Treatment of Bancroftian Filariasis. Clin Infect Dis, 2016. 62(3): p. 334-341.
- 42. Program, M.D. Guide for Donations of Mectizan® to Accelerate the Elimination of Lymphatic Filariasis in Countries where Onchocerciasis is not co-endemic. 2017; Available from: https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fme ctizan.org%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2018%2F07%2FGuide-Mectizan-Application-for-IDA-countries_V1.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK.
- 43. Goss, C.W., et al., Dosing pole recommendations for lymphatic filariasis elimination: A height-weight quantile regression modeling approach. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2019. **13**(7): p. e0007541.
- 44. Alexander, N.D., et al., Ivermectin dose assessment without weighing scales. Bull World Health Organ, 1993. **71**(3-4): p. 361-6.
- Health, M.o., Guidelines for Community Drug Distributors for Mass Drug Administration Campaigns for Neglected Tropical Diseases in Tanzania Mainland. 2016.
- Samara, C., et al., Safety Surveillance During Drug Development: Comparative Evaluation of Existing Regulations. Adv Ther, 2023. 40(5): p. 2147–2185.
- 47. WHO. The safety of medicines in public health programmes: pharmacovigilance an essential tool 2006. 2006 [cited 2023 Nov 23]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9241593911</u>.

- WHO. The WHO Programme for International Drug Monitoring. 2023 [cited 2023 May 23]; Available from: https://www.who.int/teams/regulationprequalification/regulation-andsafety/pharmacovigilance/networks/pidm.
- 49. Hazell, L. and S.A. Shakir, Under-reporting of adverse drug reactions : a systematic review. Drug Saf, 2006. **29**(5): p. 385-96.
- 50. Adisa, R. and T.I. Omitogun, Awareness, knowledge, attitude and practice of adverse drug reaction reporting among health workers and patients in selected primary healthcare centres in Ibadan, southwestern Nigeria. BMC Health Serv Res, 2019. 19(1): p. 926.
- García-Abeijon, P., et al., Factors Associated with Underreporting of Adverse Drug Reactions by Health Care Professionals: A Systematic Review Update. Drug Saf, 2023. 46(7): p. 625–636.
- 52. Jarab, A.S., et al., Adverse-drug reaction reporting by Pharm D students during hospital training. Saudi Pharm J, 2023. **31**(7): p. 1149–1156.
- 53. Kochhar, S., et al., Immunization in pregnancy safety surveillance in low and middle-income countries- field performance and validation of novel case definitions. Vaccine, 2019. **37**(22): p. 2967–2974.
- 54. WHO. A practical handbook on the pharmacovigilance of antiretroviral medicines. 2013; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241547949.
- WHO. A practical handbook on the pharmacovigilance of medicines used in the treatment of tuberculosis: enhancing the safety of the TB patient.
 2012 [cited 2023 Oct 23]; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241503495.
- WHO. A practical handbook on the pharmacovigilance of antimalarial medicines. 2008 [cited 2023 June 23]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241547499</u>.
- Fimbo, A.M., et al., Safety and Tolerability of Ivermectin and Albendazole Mass Drug Administration in Lymphatic Filariasis Endemic Communities of Tanzania: A Cohort Event Monitoring Study. Pharmaceuticals (Basel), 2022. 15(5).
- Mssusa, A.K., et al., Safety Profile of Artemether-Lumefantrine: A Cohort Event Monitoring Study in Public Health Facilities in Tanzania. Clin Drug Investig, 2016. 36(5): p. 401-11.

- Campillo, J.T., et al., Serious adverse reactions associated with ivermectin: A systematic pharmacovigilance study in sub-Saharan Africa and in the rest of the World. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2021. 15(4): p. e0009354.
- 60. Ackerman, S.J., et al., Eosinophil degranulation. An immunologic determinant in the pathogenesis of the Mazzotti reaction in human onchocerciasis. J Immunol, 1990. **144**(10): p. 3961-9.
- 61. Duke, B.O., Human onchocerciasis--an overview of the disease. Acta Leiden, 1990. **59**(1-2): p. 9-24.
- 62. Awadzi, K., et al., The co-administration of ivermectin and albendazole-safety, pharmacokinetics and efficacy against Onchocerca volvulus. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 2003. **97**(2): p. 165-78.
- 63. Campbell, W.C., Ivermectin as an antiparasitic agent for use in humans. Annu Rev Microbiol, 1991. **45**: p. 445–74.
- 64. Geary, T.G., Ivermectin 20 years on: maturation of a wonder drug. Trends Parasitol, 2005. **21**(11): p. 530-2.
- 65. Lacey, E., Mode of action of benzimidazoles. Parasitol Today, 1990. **6**(4): p. 112–5.
- Budge, P.J., et al., Adverse events following single dose treatment of lymphatic filariasis: Observations from a review of the literature. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2018. 12(5): p. e0006454.
- Wanji, S., et al., Validation of the rapid assessment procedure for loiasis (RAPLOA) in the democratic republic of Congo. Parasites & Vectors, 2012.
 5(1): p. 25.
- Boussinesq, M., et al., Three probable cases of Loa loa encephalopathy following ivermectin treatment for onchocerciasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1998. 58(4): p. 461-9.
- Palmeirim, M.S., et al., Efficacy and safety of co-administered ivermectin plus albendazole for treating soil-transmitted helminths: A systematic review, meta-analysis, and individual patient data analysis. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2018. 12(4): p. e0006458.
- 70. Tavul, L., et al., Safety and efficacy of mass drug administration with a single-dose triple-drug regimen of albendazole + diethylcarbamazine + ivermectin for lymphatic filariasis in Papua New Guinea: An open-label, cluster-randomized trial. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2022. 16(2): p. e0010096.

- 71. Andersen, B.J., et al., Changes in Cytokine, Filarial Antigen, and DNA Levels Associated With Adverse Events Following Treatment of Lymphatic Filariasis. J Infect Dis, 2018. **217**(2): p. 280–287.
- 72. Ottesen, E.A., Description, mechanisms, and control of reactions to treatment in the human filariasis. Ciba Found Symp, 1987. **127**: p. 265–83.
- Nzolo, D., et al., Central and Peripheral Nervous System Disorders Following Ivermectin Mass Administration: A Descriptive Study Based on the Democratic Republic of Congo Pharmacovigilance System. Drugs Real World Outcomes, 2017. 4(3): p. 151–158.
- 74.
 Ivermectin Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) and Package Insert.
 2020;
 Available
 from: https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/fda/fdaDrugXsl.cfm?setid=847a1d

 d7-d65b-4a0e-a67d-d90392059dac&type=display.
- 75. GSK. Zentel: Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) and Package Insert. Open Access Maced J Med Sci 2015; Available from: <u>https://assets.gskstatic.com/pharma/PM-</u> <u>PI_portal/Uganda/zentel_tablets_ug.pdf.</u>
- 76. TMDA. Tanzania Medicines and Medical Devices Act, Cap 219, Government Printer, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. 2019 [cited 2023 May 16]; Available from: <u>https://www.tmda.go.tz/uploads/1630838474-</u> <u>CHAPTER%20219%20THE%20TANZANIA%20FOOD,%20DRUGS%20AND%</u> 20COSMETICS%20ACT.pdf.
- 77. Wanji, S., et al., Ivermectin treatment of Loa loa hyper-microfilaraemic baboons (Papio anubis): Assessment of microfilarial load reduction, haematological and biochemical parameters and histopathological changes following treatment. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2017. **11**(7): p. e0005576.
- 78. Wanji, S., et al., Parasitological, Hematological and Biochemical Characteristics of a Model of Hyper-microfilariaemic Loiasis (Loa Ioa) in the Baboon (Papio anubis). PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2015. 9(11): p. e0004202.
- Uhlír, J. and P. Volf, Ivermectin: its effect on the immune system of rabbits and rats infested with ectoparasites. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 1992.
 34(3-4): p. 325-36.
- Akomas, S., O.C. Obijuru, and U. Herbert, Hematologic and serologic changes following ivermectin treatment in mange infested West African Dwarf goats. Advances in Environmental Biology, 2011. 5: p. 2557–2560.

- López-Olvera, J.R., et al., Effects of parasitic helminths and ivermectin treatment on clinical parameters in the European wild boar (Sus scrofa). Parasitol Res, 2006. 98(6): p. 582-7.
- Musa, D., et al., Effects of Nigella sativa and albendazole alone and in combination in Toxocara canis infected mice. J Pak Med Assoc, 2011. 61(9): p. 866–70.
- 83. Arise, R. and S. Malomo, Effects of ivermectin and albendazole on some liver and kidney function indices in rats. Afr J Biochem Res, 2008. **3**.
- Zeng, Z., et al., Identification of cytochrome P4503A4 as the major enzyme responsible for the metabolism of ivermectin by human liver microsomes. Xenobiotica, 1998. 28(3): p. 313–21.
- Veit, O., et al., First case of ivermectin-induced severe hepatitis. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2006. 100(8): p. 795-7.
- 86. Kanjo Shiynsa F, K.F., Njunda A L, Tientche B and Jules Clement Assob Nguedia, Liver and Kidney Function Trends in a Population Under Mass Treatment with Ivermectin in The North West Region of Cameroon (Onchocerciasis Endemic Region). American Journal of Biomedical Science & Research, 2021. 13: p. 287-294.
- Cooper, P.J., et al., Association of transient dermal mastocytosis and elevated plasma tryptase levels with development of adverse reactions after treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin. J Infect Dis, 2002. 186(9): p. 1307-13.
- Wildenburg, G., et al., Ivermectin influence on the mast cell activity in nodules of onchocerciasis patients. Trop Med Int Health, 1998. 3(11): p. 918– 25.
- Zheng, H.J., et al., Efficacy of ivermectin for control of microfilaremia recurring after treatment with diethylcarbamazine. II. Immunologic changes following treatment. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1991. 45(2): p. 175–81.
- Njoo, F.L., et al., C-reactive protein and interleukin-6 are elevated in onchocerciasis patients after ivermectin treatment. J Infect Dis, 1994. 170(3): p. 663-8.
- 91. Burchard, G.D., et al., Analysis of renal function in onchocerciasis patients before and after therapy. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1999. **60**(6): p. 980–6.
- Guzzo, C.A., et al., Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of escalating high doses of ivermectin in healthy adult subjects. J Clin Pharmacol, 2002.
 42(10): p. 1122–33.

- Elkassaby, M.H., Ivermectin uptake and distribution in the plasma and tissue of Sudanese and Mexican patients infected with Onchocerca volvulus. Trop Med Parasitol, 1991. 42(2): p. 79–81.
- Edwards, G., et al., The relative systemic availability of ivermectin after administration as a capsule, tablet, and oral solution. Eur J Clin Pharmacol, 1988. 35(6): p. 681-4.
- Smit, M.R., et al., Pharmacokinetics-Pharmacodynamics of High-Dose Ivermectin with Dihydroartemisinin-Piperaquine on Mosquitocidal Activity and QT-Prolongation (IVERMAL). Clin Pharmacol Ther, 2019. 105(2): p. 388-401.
- Schulz, J.D., et al., Pharmacokinetics of ascending doses of ivermectin in Trichuris trichiura-infected children aged 2-12 years. J Antimicrob Chemother, 2019. 74(6): p. 1642-1647.
- Rowland Yeo, K., and D. Wesche, PBPK modeling of ivermectin-Considerations for the purpose of developing alternative routes to optimize its safety profile. CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol, 2023.
 12(5): p. 598-609.
- Muñoz, J., et al., Safety and pharmacokinetic profile of fixed-dose ivermectin with an innovative 18mg tablet in healthy adult volunteers. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2018. 12(1): p. e0006020.
- 99. Kobylinski, K.C., et al., Ivermectin susceptibility and sporontocidal effect in Greater Mekong Subregion Anopheles. Malaria Journal, 2017. **16**(1): p. 280.
- 100. Klotz, U., J.E. Ogbuokiri, and P.O. Okonkwo, Ivermectin binds avidly to plasma proteins. Eur J Clin Pharmacol, 1990. **39**(6): p. 607–8.
- Peachey, L.E., et al., P-glycoproteins play a role in ivermectin resistance in cyathostomins. International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance, 2017. 7(3): p. 388-398.
- 102. Boussinesq, M., et al., Clinical picture, epidemiology and outcome of Loaassociated serious adverse events related to mass ivermectin treatment of onchocerciasis in Cameroon. Filaria J, 2003. 2 Suppl 1(Suppl 1): p. S4.
- 103. Amsden, G.W., et al., Pharmacokinetics of azithromycin and the combination of ivermectin and albendazole when administered alone and concurrently in healthy volunteers. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2007. 76(6): p. 1153-7.
- 104. González Canga, A., et al., The pharmacokinetics and interactions of ivermectin in humans--a mini-review. Aaps j, 2008. **10**(1): p. 42–6.

- 105. Wu, Z., et al., CYP2J2 and CYP2C19 are the major enzymes responsible for metabolism of albendazole and fenbendazole in human liver microsomes and recombinant P450 assay systems. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2013. 57(11): p. 5448-56.
- Krishna, D.R., and U. Klotz, Determination of ivermectin in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography. Arzneimittelforschung, 1993.
 43(5): p. 609–11.
- 107. Qi, L., Human Pharmacokinetics of Orally Taking Ivermectin. The Chinese Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2001.
- Fink, D.W. and A.G. Porras, Pharmacokinetics of Ivermectin in Animals and Humans, in Ivermectin and Abamectin, W.C. Campbell, Editor. 1989, Springer New York: New York, NY. p. 113–130.
- 109. El-Tahtawy, A., et al., The effect of azithromycin on ivermectin pharmacokinetics--a population pharmacokinetic model analysis. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2008. 2(5): p. e236.
- 110. Na-Bangchang, K., et al., Assessments of pharmacokinetic drug interactions and tolerability of albendazole, praziquantel and ivermectin combinations. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2006. **100**(4): p. 335-45.
- Duthaler, U., et al., Population pharmacokinetics of oral ivermectin in venous plasma and dried blood spots in healthy volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 2019. 85(3): p. 626-633.
- Chaccour, C., F. Hammann, and N.R. Rabinovich, Ivermectin to reduce malaria transmission I. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic considerations regarding efficacy and safety. Malaria Journal, 2017. 16(1): p. 161.
- 113. Duthaler, U., et al., The effect of food on the pharmacokinetics of oral ivermectin. J Antimicrob Chemother, 2020. **75**(2): p. 438-440.
- Gwee, A., et al., Population pharmacokinetics of ivermectin for the treatment of scabies in Indigenous Australian children. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2020. 14(12): p. e0008886.
- Brussee, J.M., et al., Ivermectin Dosing Strategy to Achieve Equivalent Exposure Coverage in Children and Adults. Clin Pharmacol Ther, 2019. 106(3): p. 661-667.
- Tisch, D.J., E. Michael, and J.W. Kazura, Mass chemotherapy options to control lymphatic filariasis: a systematic review. Lancet Infect Dis, 2005. 5(8): p. 514-23.

- 117. Bjerum, C.M., et al., Efficacy and Safety of a Single Dose of Ivermectin, Diethylcarbamazine, and Albendazole for Treatment of Lymphatic Filariasis in Côte d'Ivoire: An Open-label Randomized Controlled Trial. Clin Infect Dis, 2020. 71(7): p. e68-e75.
- Tafatatha, T.T., et al., Randomised controlled clinical trial of increased dose and frequency of albendazole and ivermectin on Wuchereria bancrofti microfilarial clearance in northern Malawi. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2015. 109(6): p. 393–9.
- 119. Weil, G.J., et al., Changes in circulating parasite antigen levels after treatment of bancroftian filariasis with diethylcarbamazine and ivermectin. J Infect Dis, 1991. **164**(4): p. 814-6.
- 120. Dunyo, S.K., F.K. Nkrumah, and P.E. Simonsen, Single-dose treatment of Wuchereria bancrofti infections with ivermectin and albendazole alone or in combination: evaluation of the potential for control at 12 months after treatment. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2000. **94**(4): p. 437-43.
- 121. Diallo, S., et al., Dose-ranging study of ivermectin in treatment of filariasis due to Wuchereria bancrofti. Lancet, 1987. **1**(8540): p. 1030.
- 122. Ismail, M.M.P., U.N.; Abeyewickreme, W.; Jayasinghe, K.S.A.; de Silva, W.A.S.; Atukorala, S.; de Abrew, K.; Dissanaike, A.S., Treatment of bancroftian filariasis with ivermectin in Sri Lanka, evaluation of efficacy and adverse reaction. Tropical Biomedicine, 1991: p. 71–75.
- 123. Nguyen, N.L., et al., Advantages of ivermectin at a single dose of 400 micrograms/kg compared with 100 micrograms/kg for community treatment of lymphatic filariasis in Polynesia. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 1994. 88(4): p. 461-4.
- 124. Kumaraswami, V., et al., Ivermectin for the treatment of Wuchereria bancrofti filariasis. Efficacy and adverse reactions. Jama, 1988. **259**(21): p. 3150–3.
- 125. Coutinho, A.D., et al., Ivermectin treatment of bancroftian filariasis in Recife, Brazil. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1994. **50**(3): p. 339-48.
- 126. Kar, S.K., et al., Lymphatic pathology in asymptomatic and symptomatic children with Wuchereria bancrofti infection in children from Odisha, India and its reversal with DEC and albendazole treatment. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2017. 11(10): p. e0005631.
- 127. Kar, S.K., et al., A Randomized Controlled Trial of Increased Dose and Frequency of Albendazole with Standard Dose DEC for Treatment of

Wuchereria bancrofti Microfilaremics in Odisha, India. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2015. **9**(3): p. e0003583.

- 128. El Setouhy, M., et al., A randomized clinical trial comparing single- and multi-dose combination therapy with diethylcarbamazine and albendazole for treatment of bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2004. **70**(2): p. 191-6.
- 129. Ottesen, E.A., Efficacy of diethylcarbamazine in eradicating infection with lymphatic-dwelling filariae in humans. Rev Infect Dis, 1985. **7**(3): p. 341–56.
- 130. Jambulingam, P., et al., An open-label, block randomized, community study of the safety and efficacy of co-administered ivermectin, diethylcarbamazine plus albendazole vs. diethylcarbamazine plus albendazole for lymphatic filariasis in India. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2021. 15(2): p. e0009069.
- TFS. Tanzania Forest Service Agency 2021 [cited 2022 Nov 30]; Available from: <u>https://www.tfs.go.tz/index.php/en/forests/nilo</u>.
- NBS. Tanzania Population and Housing Census 2022. 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 23]; Available from: <u>https://www.nbs.go.tz/index.php/en/census-surveys/population-and-housing-census</u>.
- Layton, D., L. Hazell, and S.A. Shakir, Modified prescription-event monitoring studies: a tool for pharmacovigilance and risk management. Drug Saf, 2011. 34(12): p. e1–9.
- 134. Duthaler, U., et al., Development and validation of an LC-MS/MS method for the analysis of ivermectin in plasma, whole blood, and dried blood spots using a fully automatic extraction system. J Pharm Biomed Anal, 2019. **172**: p. 18-25.
- 135. Chan Kwong, A.H.P., et al., Prior information for population pharmacokinetic and pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic analysis: overview and guidance with a focus on the NONMEM PRIOR subroutine. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn, 2020. 47(5): p. 431-446.
- 136. NIH. Common Terminology Criteria
- for Adverse Events (CTCAE). 2017; Available from: <u>https://ctep.cancer.gov/protocoldevelopment/electronic_applications/d</u> <u>ocs/ctcae_v5_quick_reference_8.5x11.pdf</u>.
- Dunyo, S.K., et al., Lymphatic filariasis on the coast of Ghana. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 1996. 90(6): p. 634-8.

- WHO. Ending the neglect to attain the sustainable development goals: a rationale for continued investment in tackling neglected tropical diseases 2021–2030. 2022 [cited 2023 NOv 28]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240052932</u>.
- 139. Cabral, S., et al., Knowledge, attitudes and perceptions regarding lymphatic filariasis: study on systematic noncompliance with mass drug administration. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo, 2017. **59**: p. e23.
- 140. Talbot, J.T., et al., Predictors of compliance in mass drug administration for the treatment and prevention of lymphatic filariasis in Leogane, Haiti. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2008. 78(2): p. 283–8.
- 141. Ramaiah, K.D., et al., A campaign of "communication for behavioural impact" to improve mass drug administrations against lymphatic filariasis: structure, implementation and impact on people's knowledge and treatment coverage. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 2006. **100**(4): p. 345-61.
- 142. Ramaiah, K.D., et al., A programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis in Tamil Nadu state, India: compliance with annual single-dose DEC mass treatment and some related operational aspects. Trop Med Int Health, 2000. 5(12): p. 842-7.
- 143. Babu, B.V. and S. Mishra, Mass drug administration under the programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis in Orissa, India: a mixed-methods study to identify factors associated with compliance and non-compliance. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2008. **102**(12): p. 1207-13.
- Vaishnav, K.G. and I.C. Patel, Independent assessment of Mass Drug Administration in filariasis affected Surat city. J Commun Dis, 2006. 38(2): p. 149–54.
- 145. Krentel, A., P.U. Fischer, and G.J. Weil, A review of factors that influence individual compliance with mass drug administration for elimination of lymphatic filariasis. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2013. **7**(11): p. e2447.
- 146. Gordon, S., et al., Lymphatic Filariasis: A Method to Identify Subclinical Lower Limb Change in PNG Adolescents. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2011. 5(7): p. e1242.
- 147. Aguiar-Santos, A.M., et al., Lymph scrotum: an unusual urological presentation of lymphatic filariasis. A case series study. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo, 2009. 51(4): p. 179–83.
- 148. Meyrowitsch, D.W., P.E. Simonsen, and W.H. Makunde, Bancroftian filariasis: analysis of infection and disease in five endemic communities of northeastern Tanzania. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 1995. **89**(6): p. 653–63.

- 149. Norões, J., et al., Assessment of the efficacy of diethylcarbamazine on adult Wuchereria bancrofti in vivo. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 1997. 91(1): p. 78-81.
- 150. Chen, T.T., Demonstration of Macrofilaricidal Action Of Hetrazan, Antimony and Arsenic Preparations In Man. Chin Med J, 1964. **83**: p. 625–40.
- 151. Kar, S.K., J. Mania, and P.K. Kar, Prevalence of lymphatic nodule in a bancroftian endemic population. Acta Trop, 1993. **55**(1-2): p. 53-60.
- 152. De Sole, G., et al., Adverse reactions after large-scale treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin: combined results from eight community trials. Bull World Health Organ, 1989. **67**(6): p. 707-19.
- 153. Burnham, G.M., Adverse reactions to ivermectin treatment for onchocerciasis. Results of a placebo-controlled, double-blind trial in Malawi. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 1993. 87(3): p. 313-7.
- McPherson, S., et al., Safety of integrated mass drug administration of azithromycin, albendazole and ivermectin versus standard treatment regimens: a cluster-randomised trial in Ethiopia. eClinicalMedicine, 2023. 59.
- 155. Aroke, D., et al., Ivermectin induced Steven-Johnsons syndrome: case report. BMC Res Notes, 2017. **10**(1): p. 179.
- 156. Ngwasiri, C.A., M.H. Abanda, and L.N. Aminde, Ivermectin-induced fixed drug eruption in an elderly Cameroonian: a case report. Journal of Medical Case Reports, 2018. **12**(1): p. 254.
- 157. Mara, C., et al., [Drug-induced eruption after treatment of hyperkeratotic crusted scabies with ivermectin]. Rev Med Interne, 2004. **25**(6): p. 476-7.
- 158. Sanz-Navarro, J., C. Feal, and E. Dauden, Treatment of Human Scabies with Oral Ivermectin. Eczematous Eruptions as a New Non-Reported Adverse Event. Actas Dermosifiliogr, 2017. **108**(7): p. 643-649.
- 159. Fujimoto, K., et al., Treatment for crusted scabies: limitations and side effects of treatment with ivermectin. Journal of Nippon Medical School = Nippon Ika Daigaku zasshi, 2014. 81 3: p. 157-63.
- Cruel, T., et al., [Nephropathy and filariasis from Loa loa. Apropos of 1 case of adverse reaction to a dose of ivermectin]. Bull Soc Pathol Exot, 1997.
 90(3): p. 179-81.
- Kaur, U., S.S. Chakrabarti, and I.S. Gambhir, Delirium induced by albendazole-ivermectin combination: Report of the first case in an older patient. Geriatr Gerontol Int, 2017. 17(12): p. 2618–2620.

- 162. Mohapatra, S. and A.J. Sahoo, Drug-Induced Psychosis Associated with Albendazole-Ivermectin Combination Therapy in a 10-Year-Old Child. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol, 2015. 25(10): p. 817-8.
- Choksi, T.T., et al., Multiorgan Dysfunction Syndrome from Strongyloides stercoralis Hyperinfection in a Patient with Human T-Cell Lymphotropic Virus-1 Coinfection After Initiation of Ivermectin Treatment. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2016. 95(4): p. 864–867.
- Twum-Danso, N.A.Y., Serious adverse events following treatment with ivermectin for onchocerciasis control: a review of reported cases. Filaria Journal, 2003. 2(1): p. S3.
- Checkouri, T., et al., Association between altered cognition and Loa loa microfilaremia: First evidence from a cross-sectional study in a rural area of the Republic of Congo. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2023. 17(6): p. e0011430.
- Chandler, R.E., Serious Neurological Adverse Events after Ivermectin-Do They Occur beyond the Indication of Onchocerciasis? Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2018. 98(2): p. 382-388.
- Gardon, J., et al., Serious reactions after mass treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin in an area endemic for Loa loa infection. Lancet, 1997. 350(9070): p. 18-22.
- Boussinesq, M. and J. Gardon, Prevalences of Loa loa microfilaraemia throughout the area endemic for the infection. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 1997. **91**(6): p. 573-89.
- 169. Esum, M., et al., Co-endemicity of loiasis and onchocerciasis in the South West Province of Cameroon: implications for mass treatment with ivermectin. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2001. **95**(6): p. 673-6.
- 170. Arrey-Agbor, D.B., et al., Case Report: Probable Case of Spontaneous Encephalopathy Due to Loiasis and Dramatic Reduction of Loa Ioa Microfilariaemia with Prolonged Repeated Courses of Albendazole. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2018. 99(1): p. 112-115.
- 171. Volpicelli, L., et al., Encephalopathy in a patient with loiasis treated with albendazole: A case report. Parasitol Int, 2020. **75**: p. 102006.
- 172. Zouré, H.G., et al., The geographic distribution of Loa loa in Africa: results of large-scale implementation of the Rapid Assessment Procedure for Loiasis (RAPLOA). PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2011. 5(6): p. e1210.
- 173. Kim, D.I., et al., Venous dynamics in leg lymphedema. Lymphology, 1999.32(1): p. 11-4.

- 174. Martin, K.P. and I. Földi: Are hemodynamic factors important in arm lymphedema after treatment of breast cancer? Lymphology, 1996. 29(4): p. 155-7.
- 175. Svensson, W.E., et al., The use of colour Doppler to define venous abnormalities in the swollen arm following therapy for breast carcinoma. Clin Radiol, 1991. 44(4): p. 249–52.
- 176. Jacobsson, S., Blood circulation in lymphoedema of the arm. Br J Plast Surg, 1967. **20**(4): p. 355-8.
- Svensson, W.E., et al., Colour Doppler demonstrates venous flow abnormalities in breast cancer patients with chronic arm swelling. Eur J Cancer, 1994. **30a**(5): p. 657-60.
- 178. Vaqas, B. and T.J. Ryan, Lymphoedema: Pathophysiology and management in resource-poor settings - relevance for lymphatic filariasis control programmes. Filaria J, 2003. 2(1): p. 4.
- 179. Mullerpattan, J.B., Z.F. Udwadia, and F.E. Udwadia, Tropical pulmonary eosinophilia--a review. Indian J Med Res, 2013. **138**(3): p. 295-302.
- Jha SK, K.B., Mahajan K. . Tropical Pulmonary Eosinophilia. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 29]; Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK557524/</u>.
- Tsanglao, W.R., et al., Filarial tropical pulmonary eosinophilia: a condition masquerading asthma, a series of 12 cases. J Asthma, 2019. 56(7): p. 791– 798.
- 182. Magnussen, P., et al., Chronic pulmonary disorders, including tropical pulmonary eosinophilia, in villages with endemic lymphatic filariasis in Tanga region and in Tanga town, Tanzania. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 1995. 89(4): p. 406-9.
- Vijayan, V.K., Tropical pulmonary eosinophilia: pathogenesis, diagnosis and management. Curr Opin Pulm Med, 2007. 13(5): p. 428–33.
- Boggild, A.K., J.S. Keystone, and K.C. Kain, Tropical pulmonary eosinophilia: a case series in a setting of nonendemicity. Clin Infect Dis, 2004. 39(8): p. 1123–8.
- Beg, M.A., et al., Tropical pulmonary eosinophilia and filariasis in Pakistan. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health, 2001. 32(1): p. 73-5.
- 186. Lobos, E., et al., Biochemical and immunologic characterization of a major IgE-inducing filarial antigen of Brugia malayi and implications for the

pathogenesis of tropical pulmonary eosinophilia. The Journal of Immunology, 1992. **149**(9): p. 3029-3034.

- Marshall, B.G., R.J. Wilkinson, and R.N. Davidson, Pathogenesis of tropical pulmonary eosinophilia: parasitic alveolitis and parallels with asthma. Respir Med, 1998. 92(1): p. 1-3.
- 188. Ottesen, E.A., et al., Specific allergic sensitisation to filarial antigens in tropical eosinophilia syndrome. Lancet, 1979. **1**(8127): p. 1158-61.
- Ong, R.K. and R.L. Doyle, Tropical pulmonary eosinophilia. Chest, 1998.
 113(6): p. 1673-9.
- 190. Gyapong, J.O., M.A. Chinbuah, and M. Gyapong, Inadvertent exposure of pregnant women to ivermectin and albendazole during mass drug administration for lymphatic filariasis. Trop Med Int Health, 2003. 8(12): p. 1093-101.
- 191. Ndyomugyenyi, R., et al., Efficacy of ivermectin and albendazole alone and in combination for treatment of soil-transmitted helminths in pregnancy and adverse events: a randomized open label controlled intervention trial in Masindi district, western Uganda. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2008. **79**(6): p. 856–63.
- 192. Panneerselvam, N.K., et al., Effect of Arogya Raksha Panchatantra (five lifestyle principles) on hematological parameters and anthropometric measures among healthy volunteers: a pilot study. J Complement Integr Med, 2021. 18(3): p. 641-644.
- 193. Birgegård, G., Managing anemia in lymphoma and multiple myeloma. Ther Clin Risk Manag, 2008. **4**(2): p. 527-39.
- 194. Murphy, P.T., B. Allen, and R.M. Hutchinson, Plasma viscosity and erythrocyte sedimentation rate in suspected cases of temporal arteritis. Br J Haematol, 1994. 87(3): p. 671.
- 195. Moore, C.A. and A. Adil, Macrocytic Anemia, in StatPearls. 2023, StatPearls Publishing Copyright © 2023, StatPearls Publishing LLC.: Treasure Island (FL) ineligible companies. Disclosure: Abdullah Adil declares no relevant financial relationships with ineligible companies.
- 196. Nagao, T. and M. Hirokawa, Diagnosis and treatment of macrocytic anemias in adults. J Gen Fam Med, 2017. **18**(5): p. 200–204.
- 197. Aslinia, F., J.J. Mazza, and S.H. Yale, Megaloblastic anemia and other causes of macrocytosis. Clin Med Res, 2006. **4**(3): p. 236–41.

- Khanduri, U. and A. Sharma, Megaloblastic anaemia: prevalence and causative factors. Natl Med J India, 2007. 20(4): p. 172-5.
- 199. Socha, D.S., et al., Severe megaloblastic anemia: Vitamin deficiency and other causes. Cleve Clin J Med, 2020. **87**(3): p. 153-164.
- Van Vranken, M., Evaluation of microcytosis. Am Fam Physician, 2010.
 82(9): p. 1117-22.
- Suchdev, P.S., et al., Home fortification of foods with multiple micronutrient powders for health and nutrition in children under two years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2020. 2(2): p. Cd008959.
- 202. Cappellini, M.D., et al., Inherited microcytic anemias. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program, 2020. **2020**(1): p. 465-470.
- 203. Saravanan, M., et al., Chapter 20 Impacts of nanomaterials synthesized by greener methods on aquatic vertebrates, in Handbook of Greener Synthesis of Nanomaterials and Compounds, B. Kharisov and O. Kharissova, Editors. 2021, Elsevier. p. 463-486.
- 204. Manomaipiboon, A., et al., Efficacy and safety of ivermectin in the treatment of mild to moderate COVID-19 infection: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Trials, 2022. **23**(1): p. 714.
- 205. O'Connell, E.M. and T.B. Nutman, Eosinophilia in Infectious Diseases. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am, 2015. **35**(3): p. 493-522.
- 206. Gao, Y., et al., The Impact of Various Platelet Indices as Prognostic Markers of Septic Shock. PLOS ONE, 2014. **9**(8): p. e103761.
- Vagdatli, E., et al., Platelet distribution width: a simple, practical and specific marker of activation of coagulation. Hippokratia, 2010. 14(1): p. 28– 32.
- 208. Oscanoa, T.J., et al., Hepatic disorders associated with the use of Ivermectin for SARS-CoV-2 infection in adults: a pharmacovigilance study in VigiBase. Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench, 2022. **15**(4): p. 426-429.
- 209. Ozer, M., et al., Effectiveness and safety of Ivermectin in COVID-19 patients: A prospective study at a safety-net hospital. Journal of Medical Virology, 2022. 94(4): p. 1473-1480.
- 210. Edi, C., et al., Pharmacokinetics, safety, and efficacy of a single coadministered dose of diethylcarbamazine, albendazole and ivermectin in adults with and without Wuchereria bancrofti infection in Côte d'Ivoire. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2019. 13(5): p. e0007325.

- Kiang, T.K., et al., Fundamentals of population pharmacokinetic modelling: modelling and software. Clin Pharmacokinet, 2012. 51(8): p. 515–25.
- B., C., Population pharmacokinetics: an overview. Aust Prescr 2014. 37: p. 210–13.
- Mould, D.R. and R.N. Upton, Basic concepts in population modeling, simulation, and model-based drug development. CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol, 2012. 1(9): p. e6.
- 214. Ette, E.I. and P.J. Williams, Population pharmacokinetics I: background, concepts, and models. Ann Pharmacother, 2004. **38**(10): p. 1702–6.
- Alshehri, A., et al., Population pharmacokinetic model of ivermectin in mass drug administration against lymphatic filariasis. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2023.
 17(6): p. e0011319.
- Shu, E.N. and P.O. Okonkwo, Community-based ivermectin therapy for onchocerciasis: comparison of three methods of dose assessment. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2001. 65(3): p. 184–8.
- 217. Kudzi, W., A.N.O. Dodoo, and J.J. Mills, Genetic polymorphisms in MDR1, CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 genes in a Ghanaian population: a plausible explanation for altered metabolism of ivermectin in humans? BMC Medical Genetics, 2010. 11(1): p. 111.
- 218. Ottesen, E.A., et al., A controlled trial of ivermectin and diethylcarbamazine in lymphatic filariasis. N Engl J Med, 1990. **322**(16): p. 1113–7.
- 219. Kazura, J., et al., Comparison of single-dose diethylcarbamazine and ivermectin for treatment of bancroftian filariasis in Papua New Guinea. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1993. **49**(6): p. 804–11.
- Kar, S.K., et al., Ivermectin in the treatment of bancroftian filarial infection in Orissa, India. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health, 1993. 24(1): p. 80-6.
- Simonsen, P.E., et al., The effect of single-dose ivermectin alone or in combination with albendazole on Wuchereria bancrofti infection in primary school children in Tanzania. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2004.
 98(8): p. 462-72.
- 222. Sabry, M., et al., A placebo-controlled double-blind trial for the treatment of bancroftian filariasis with ivermectin or diethylcarbamazine. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 1991. **85**(5): p. 640–3.
- 223. de Kraker, M.E., et al., Model-based analysis of trial data: microfilaria and worm-productivity loss after diethylcarbamazine-albendazole or

ivermectin-albendazole combination therapy against Wuchereria bancrofti. Trop Med Int Health, 2006. **11**(5): p. 718-28.

- 224. Stolk, W.A., et al., Effects of ivermectin and diethylcarbamazine on microfilariae and overall microfilaria production in bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2005. **73**(5): p. 881-7.
- 225. Cartel, J.L., et al., Single versus repeated doses of ivermectin and diethylcarbamazine for the treatment of Wuchereria bancrofti var. pacifica microfilaremia. Results at 12 months of a double-blind study. Trop Med Parasitol, 1991. **42**(4): p. 335-8.
- 226. Dubray, C.L., et al., Safety and efficacy of co-administered diethylcarbamazine, albendazole and ivermectin during mass drug administration for lymphatic filariasis in Haiti: Results from a two-armed, open-label, cluster-randomized, community study. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2020. **14**(6): p. e0008298.